
           
CITY OF TEXAS CITY

REGULAR CALLED CITY COMMISSION MEETING

AGENDA

WEDNESDAY, AUGUST 7, 2024 - 5:00 P.M.
KENNETH T. NUNN COUNCIL ROOM -  CITY HALL

 1801 9th Ave. N.
Texas City, TX  77590

PLEASE NOTE: Public comments and matters from the floor are generally limited to 3 minutes in length.
If you would like to request to speak, please do so in advance of the meeting by filling out a Request To
Address Commission form. All in attendance are required to remove hats and/or sunglasses (dark
glasses) during meetings and to also silence all cell phones and electronic devices.
 

           
(1) ROLL CALL   
 

(2) INVOCATION   
 

(3) PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE   
 

(4) PROCLAMATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS   
 

(a) Promotion: Firefighter James Haltom promoted to Engineer
 
(5) REPORTS   
 

(a) Transportation and Planning Department Report (City Engineer)
 
(6) PUBLIC HEARING   
 

(a) Bluestem Energy Solutions seeks to rezone from District "F" (Light Industrial) to District
"S-P" (Site Plan) for Heights Battery Storage, a proposed 9.9 MW, 19.98 MWh Battery
Energy Storage System (BESS) installation. Located at 410 Hwy 146 N, south of TNMP
Heights Substation. (City Engineer)

 
(7) PRELIMINARY ZONING APPROVAL   
 

(a) Consider and take action on a Zoning Change Request from Bluestem Energy Solutions



(a) Consider and take action on a Zoning Change Request from Bluestem Energy Solutions
to rezone from District "F" (Light Industrial) to District "S-P" (Site Plan) for Heights
Battery Storage, a proposed 9.9 MW, 19.98 MWh Battery Energy Storage System
(BESS) installation, located at 410 Hwy 146 N, south of TNMP Heights Substation. (City
Engineer)

 
(8) PUBLIC COMMENTS   
 

(9) CONSENT AGENDA   
 

(a) Approve City Commission Minutes for the July 17, 2024, workshop and meeting. (City
Secretary)

 
(b) Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2024-093, approving the Strategic Plan for

Moore Memorial Public Library for Fiscal Year 2025-2027. (Library)
 

(c) Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2024-094, extending the continuation of the
Disaster Declaration until further action by the City Commission. (Emergency
Management)

 
(d) Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2024-095, approve the acceptance of, and

the ability to expand, the HUD FY' 2024 CDBG Allocation Entitlement. (Community
Development/Grants Administration)

 
(e) Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2024-096, authorizing the rejection of all

bids for Bid No. 2024-012, Building Materials Annual Contract, and authorizing City Staff
to rebid at a later date. (Public Works)

 
(f) Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2024-097, adopting the PY' 24 CDBG Action

Plan and Approving the submission to HUD. (Community Development/Grants
Administration)

 
(g)

 
(10) REGULAR ITEMS   
 

(a) Consider and take action on Ordinance No. 2024-19, authorizing a budget amendment to
make funds available for the payment of the May 2024 General Election. (Finance)

 
(b) Consider and take action on proposed tax rate by record vote and schedule public

hearings, if necessary.
 
(11) COMMISSIONERS' COMMENTS   
 



(12) MAYOR'S COMMENTS   
 

(13) ADJOURNMENT   
 

NOTICE OF ANY SUBJECT APPEARING ON THIS AGENDA REGARDLESS OF HOW THE MATTER
IS STATED MAY BE ACTED UPON BY THE CITY COMMISSION.
NOTICE: The City of Texas City will furnish free transportation to handicapped individuals via a 4-door
sedan for anyone wishing to attend the City Commission meetings.  Call 948-3111, City Secretary's
Office before noon on Monday preceding the meeting to make arrangements.

I, THE UNDERSIGNED AUTHORITY, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THIS NOTICE OF MEETING WAS
POSTED ON THE BULLETIN BOARDS AT CITY HALL, 1801 9TH AVENUE NORTH, TEXAS CITY,
TEXAS, AT A PLACE CONVENIENT AND READILY ACCESSIBLE TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC AND
ON THE CITY'S WEBSITE ON AUGUST 2, 2024, PRIOR TO 5:00 P.M. AND REMAINED SO POSTED
CONTINUOUSLY FOR AT LEAST 72 HOURS PRECEDING THE SCHEDULED TIME OF SAID
MEETING.

______________________
RHOMARI LEIGH
CITY SECRETARY



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (4) (a)        
Meeting Date: 08/07/2024  
Promotion: Firefighter James Haltom promoted to Engineer
Submitted For: David Zacherl, Fire Department 
Submitted By: Cyinthia Baker, Fire Department
Department: Fire Department

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Promotion: Firefighter James Haltom promoted to Engineer

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
na

RECOMMENDATION
na

Fiscal Impact



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (5) (a)        
Meeting Date: 08/07/2024  
Transportation and Planning Department Report (City Engineer)
Submitted By: Rhomari Leigh, City Secretary
Department: City Secretary

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Transportation and Planning Department Report (City Engineer)

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
RECOMMENDATION

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Staff Report 



Growing with…

Engineering & Planning
2024



ENGINEERING & PLANNING
BUILDING INSPECTIONS

7800 Emmett F. Lowry Expy
Texas City, TX 77591



ENGINEERING & PLANNING

BUILDING & INSPECTIONS

Kimberly Golden, P.E., City Engineer

Casey Bennett, Chief Building Official
David Kinchen, Deputy Building Official



ENGINEERING & PLANNING
Staffing

• 3 Full Time Positions (1 Vacancy)
• 2 Part Time Contract Positions
• 1 Temporary Contract Position



ENGINEERING & PLANNING
Essential Functions

• Administers Zoning Ordinance
• Administers Subdivision Ordinance
• Coordinates and staffs the Zoning Commission, Planning Board and

Board of Adjustment
• Reviews and approves Engineering Plans
• Administers the Capital Recovery Program (Impact Fees)
• Coordinates review and approval of Development Plans/Proposals

with other Texas City Departments
• Reviews Subdivision Plats & Construction Plans
• Negotiates Development Agreements and Planned Unit

Development (PUD) Agreements
• Facilitates the utilization of Special Districts for development –

MUDs, PIDs, TIRZ
• City Engineer/Secretary of the Planning Board - signs and records

plats

• Conducts Planning Related Studies
• Make recommendations for future Utility, Street, Drainage, and Bond

Program Projects
• Coordinates the Streetlight Program
• Administers Pipeline Permits and License Agreements
• Administers Oil & Gas Permitting
• Administers Heavy Load Permitting
• Liaison with other Governmental Agencies
• Liaison with Gulf Coast Water Authority (GCWA)
• Provides technical consultation and support for Mayor, City

Commission, all Texas City Departments and Appointed Boards
• Post Disaster – available as needed for damage assessment and

recovery activities
• Archive Engineering, Transportation and Planning information for

future reference, preserve existing archives



BUILDING PERMITS & INSPECTIONS
Staffing

• Chief Building Official
• Deputy Building Official
• 5 Combination Inspectors

§ 2 Plumbing, 1 Electrician, 2 Carpenter

• 1 Plan Reviewer
• 3 Permit Technicians



BUILDING PERMITS & INSPECTIONS
Essential Functions

• Administers the Issuance of Certificates of Occupancy
• Building and Related Permits – 63 permit types
• Building and Related Inspections – 119 inspection types
• Review Development Plans/Proposals
• Reviews Subdivision Plats
• Assists with staffing of the Planning Board and Zoning Commission
• Presents to the Board of Adjustments
• Floodplain Administration
• Neighborhood Improvement Services
• Post Disaster Response – assists with city wide preliminary damage assessments
• Post Disaster Response – expedited return to work to resume permitting for recovery



2020 2021 2022 2023

60,000

50,000

40,000

30,000

20,000

10,000

0

Population

ESTIMATED POPULATION
AS OF JULY 1

2020

52,287

2023

56,609

(8.3% increase)



BUILDING & RELATED PERMITTING

1) Residential New Construction Single Family 863
2) Roofing/Siding 314
3) Plumbing Gas Test 247
4) Residential Irrigation 189
5) Electrical Meter Service 163
6) Residential Mechanical – New Equipment Change-Out 161
7) Solar Panel Installation 117
8) Residential Plumbing   76
9) Residential Driveway & Culvert   73
10) Commercial Sign   66

10 Most Issued Permit Types within last 12 months

TOTAL PERMITS                    3,046



BUILDING CONSTRUCTION & RELATED INSPECTIONS
10 Most Requested Inspections within last 12 months

TOTAL INSPECTIONS 14,398

1) Residential New Construction Single Family 11,128
2) Plumbing Gas Test       363
3) Electrical Meter Service       222
4) Solar Panel Installation       209
5) Commercial Building New Construction       204
6) Certificate of Occupancy       203
7) Residential Generator       184
8) Commercial Building Remodel       154
9) Residential Irrigation       137
10) Residential Shed & Accessories         88



BUILDING STATS IN TEXAS CITY
Permits



BUILDING STATS IN TEXAS CITY
Demolitions



NEW COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENTS



NEW COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENTS

Shhhhhh…more to come



MASTER PLANS AND PLATS APPROVED BY PLANNING BOARD
 

Master Plans Preliminary Plats Final Plats

2020
Vida Costera – 204
Central Park West – 222

612 729

2021
Southlake – 2,000
Brookwater – 200

 940  704

2022 Beacon Point – 756  1,641  1,618

2023   755  864

2024 - YTD Memorial Village - 99 270 44

TOTALS 3,481 4,218 3,959



 

THE SINGLE-FAMILY DEVELOPMENT PIPELINE
Construction or Shovel-Ready In Planning & Pre-DevelopmentIn Platting

(Master Plan Approved)

1,018 Lots
295.46 acres

Beacon Point at Lago Mar
Brookwater Section 1
Central Park Section 3

Heron’s Landing Section 4
Lago Mar Pod 9 and Pod 10

Lakeside Bayou
Steed Landing
Sunrise Cove

Vida Costera Section 2

865 Lots
268.25 acres

4,110 Lots
1,901 acres

Brookwater Section 2
Cobblestone Sections 3 & 4

Lago Mar Pod 9
Marlow Lake North

Memorial Village
Pearlbrook Section 10
Vida Costera Section 3

Bay Street
Gateview

Grand Cay Harbour
Lago Mar East

MHI Tract
Padgett Tract
Willow Wood



UPDATE OF THE CAPITAL RECOVERY PLAN

 
 Sq Miles 2021est 2031est Full build

out

Zone 1 26.88 37,784 39,673 45,704

Zone 2 44.13 12,189 31,546 62,351

 Totals 71.01 49,973 71,219 108,055

Population Projections

WATER

• Surface Water – enough capacity under contract
• Well Water – need additional 3 water wells

WASTE WATER

• Wastewater Treatment Plant
• Existing capacity for 23,377 additional connections

Projected 8,171 new connections – 2022 thru 2031



2021 – 2025 WATER PLANT EXPANSION
IN LAGO MAR

Phase 1
Completed in September 2022

Phase 2
2023 - 2026

$4,266,850.46 • West Side Ground Storage Water Tank
$1,928,251

• West Side Water Well #2
$3,329,563



2022 – 2025 24” FORCEMAIN
Lago Mar Force Main

Phase 1
$7,977,453

Work in Progress
Complete Q4 2024

Phase 2
$4,419,000

Start Q4 2024
Complete Q2 2025



LAGO MAR
TAX INCREMENT

REINVESTMENT ZONE
(TIRZ)



LAGO MAR TIRZ
Property Value Increase (2006 – 2023)

• Year 16 of its 30-year life
• 2,178 completed homes as of 12/31/2023

Increase in Tax Base Market Value by Year

Commercial Residential Totals

2006 Base Value $82,650 $321,530 $404,180

2020 Value $154,074,610 $171,493,806 $328,568,416

2021 Value $180,678,510 $318,977,923 $499,656,433

2022 Value $176,695,679 $476,164,818 $652,861,497

2023 Value $201,833,329 $624,276,018 $826,109,347

Increment $201,750,676 $623,954,488 $825,705,164



LAGO MAR TIRZ
2023 Tax Increment

$4,670,545

Tax increment revenue to TIRZ fund for all
taxing entities

$2,084,876

Tax increment revenue to TIRZ fund from
Texas City share of tax revenue

$1,136,705

Tax increment revenue to Texas City from
properties in the TIRZ



GOALS ACHIEVED TO PREPARE FOR GROWTH

• Updated all Building Codes
• Fully Staffed – Inspectors & Permit Techs

• Training & Certifications
G    ALS



GOALS ACHIEVED TO PREPARE FOR GROWTH

• Upgraded to MyGov 5
• Prepared micro-training

videos, checklists and FAQs for
MyGov 5 users



Zoning Search Tool

GOALS ACHIEVED TO PREPARE FOR GROWTH

Development & Launch
of the



• Electronic Plan Review
• Integrate Permits with Munis

• Web-based Portal for Planning & Zoning
• Update the Comprehensive Plan

• Perform the CIP for W & S



I-45 BRANDING & IDENTITY PROJECT

Lago Mar Blvd At I-45
Frontage Road



FM 1764 & SH 146 BEAUTIFICATION PROJECT





   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (6) (a)        
Meeting Date: 08/07/2024  
Bluestem Energy Solutions seeks to rezone from District "F" (Light Industrial) to District "S-P" (Site
Plan) for Heights Battery Storage, a proposed 9.9 MW, 19.98 MWh Battery Energy Storage System
(BESS) installation. Located at 410 Hwy 146 N, south of TNMP Heights Substation.
Submitted For: Kim Golden, Transportation and Planning 
Submitted By: Veronica Carreon, Transportation and Planning
Department: Transportation and Planning

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Bluestem Energy Solutions seeks to rezone from District "F" (Light Industrial) to District "S-P"
(Site Plan) for Heights Battery Storage, a proposed 9.9 MW, 19.98 MWh Battery Energy
Storage System (BESS) installation. Located at 410 Hwy 146 N, south of TNMP Heights
Substation.

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
The applicant is Bluestem Energy Solutions. The proposed project will encompass approximately 1.5 acres on
2.799 acres of undeveloped land. The location of the project is on the east side of S.H 146 N and south of the
existing TNMP Heights substation. The property is zoned District F. The project proposes to develop up to 9
lithium-ion containers for 9.9MW, 19.98 MWh capacity at the site. This capacity is estimated to serve
approximately 750 homes for 24 hours. 

A Notice of the Zoning Commission hearing was mailed to 14 property owners within 200ft of the site. Letters
of support were received from four (4) property owners, three of the owners being affiliated entities with
common ownership. The letters are attached.  No letters of opposition have been received to date.

The project is proposed to include up to 9 individual battery containers. Site improvements will
include a 20ft impervious (concrete or asphalt) perimeter fire lane with access to all containers
and two access roads as required by the Fire Marshal, security fencing, and landscaping of at
least 6ft in height to provide screening of the battery containers from S.H. 146. Container
spacing has been adjusted to the 15ft minimum required by the Fire Marshal. In addition to the
generating station, offsite improvements include electric transmission infrastructure that
connects to Texas-New Mexico Power facilities in the vicinity. No water or sewer will be
needed for this development. Site drainage will be accomplished using an on-site collection
system that outfalls into the adjacent drainage channel. The adjacent developed properties
north and south of the site are zoned District F – Light Industrial. The property is bounded to
the west by SH 146. Vacant property to the south and east of the site is currently zoned
District B single family attached duplex residential but is vacant and unlikely to develop as a
residential use. The residential district is not directly adjacent to the proposed site but is
separated by a 60ft drainage easement.  Recent rezonings to District F indicate the area is
continuing to transition to industrial districts.  The site is not located in a flood plain. It is
located inside the area protected by the Texas City Hurricane Levee. Container foundations
will be placed at elevation 7.0ft in accordance with Texas City ordinances.  Regarding
protection from the saltwater/coastal environment, the applicant advises the containers are
fully integrated cabinets and shipped to the site as such, so there is no exposure to the
elements during the installation process. The containers will meet the requirements of IP 67 at



the Pack level and IP55 at the Battery Container level. IP67 means the individual battery
packs do not allow for the ingress of dust particles. They are protected against the ingress of
water from spraying/water jets and are rated to be submersed in up to 3’ of water for up to 30
minutes without penetration. IP55 means the battery containers themselves provide protection
from dust, low pressure water jets and damp and wet weather. The storage units also meet an
anti-corrosion class of up to C5-H depending on the local environment. C5 is the highest class
of anti-corrosion coating. These codes and standards will be applied by the Fire Marshal and
Chief Building Official during the permitting process.  Fire protection will be provided by
on-site systems specifically designed for this application with Fire Marshal coordination. The
project will be subject to the 2024 fire codes and building codes. The Fire Marshal may
require additional submittals at the time of permitting and has advised these requirements will
include at minimum commissioning and decommissioning plans, site safety plan, all UL test
results for the batteries to be installed, a bond or other security for decommissioning and
some requirements for insurance. The Chief Building Official is likely to require annual
certification and inspection of ventilation systems at minimum. The Applicant acknowledges
these, and other requirements must be satisfied to obtain the necessary permits.  The project
previously received Planning Board approval in May 2023. Developer revised the previously
approved site plan to accommodate review comments and requirements from Engineering &
Planning and from the Fire Marshal. The Plannign Board approved the revised site plan at its
meeting on June 3, 2024 with a vote of 3 - 0.  City staff have reviewed the submitted Site Plan
and offers no objection to the re-zoning from District F (Light Industrial) to District SP (Site
Plan) for the new BESS project.    

RECOMMENDATION
The Planning Board considered the Detailed Site Plan for this project at its regular meeting on June 3, 2024, and
voted 3 – 0 to approve the Site Plan and recommend it for approval of the zoning change from District F (Light
Industrial) to District SP (Site Plan).

The Zoning Commission held a public hearing on July 2, 2024, and received no comments in opposition to the
rezoning.  Upon deliberation and consideration, the Zoning Commission voted 4 - 0 to recommend approval of
the zoning change from District F to District SP based upon the Site Plan recommended by the Planning Board.  

City staff have no objection to the recommended zoning change.  

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Staff report for City Commission 
Heights Battery Storage - Exhibit presented to PB on 06-03-24 
PB Staff Report - Heights Battery Storage 
ZC Staff Report 07-02-24 
Heights Battery Storage - Letters in Favor 
PB Minutes - 6.3.2024 
ZC minutes - 7.2.2024 
attachment 
attachment 
attachment 



















 

Page 2 of 3 
 

from S.H. 146. Container spacing has been adjusted to the 15ft minimum required by 
the Fire Marshal. In addition to the generating station, offsite improvements include 
electric transmission infrastructure that connects to Texas-New Mexico Power 
facilities in the vicinity. No water or sewer will be needed for this development. Site 
drainage will be accomplished using an on-site collection system that outfalls into the 
adjacent drainage channel.   

The adjacent developed properties north and south of the site are zoned District F – 
Light Industrial. The property is bounded to the west by SH 146. Vacant property to 
the south and east of the site is currently zoned District B single family attached 
duplex residential but is vacant and unlikely to develop as a residential use. The 
residential district is not directly adjacent to the proposed site but is separated by a 
60ft drainage easement.  Recent rezonings to District F indicate the area is continuing 
to transition to industrial districts.   

The site is not located in a flood plain. It is located inside the area protected by the 
Texas City Hurricane Levee. Container foundations will be placed at elevation 7.0ft in 
accordance with Texas City ordinances.   

Regarding protection from the saltwater/coastal environment, the applicant advises 
the containers are fully integrated cabinets and shipped to the site as such, so there is 
no exposure to the elements during the installation process. The containers will meet 
the requirements of IP 67 at the Pack level and IP55 at the Battery Container level. IP67 
means the individual battery packs do not allow for the ingress of dust particles. They 
are protected against the ingress of water from spraying/water jets and are rated to 
be submersed in up to 3’ of water for up to 30 minutes without penetration. IP55 
means the battery containers themselves provide protection from dust, low pressure 
water jets and damp and wet weather. The storage units also meet an anti-corrosion 
class of up to C5-H depending on the local environment. C5 is the highest class of anti-
corrosion coating. These codes and standards will be applied by the Fire Marshal and 
Chief Building Official during the permitting process.   

Fire protection will be provided by on-site systems specifically designed for this 
application with Fire Marshal coordination. The project will be subject to the 2024 fire 
codes and building codes. The Fire Marshal may require additional submittals at the 
time of permitting and has advised these requirements will include at minimum 
commissioning and decommissioning plans, site safety plan, all UL test results for the 
batteries to be installed, a bond or other security for decommissioning and some 
requirements for insurance. The Chief Building Official is likely to require annual 
certification and inspection of ventilation systems at minimum. The Applicant 
acknowledges these, and other requirements must be satisfied to obtain the 
necessary permits.   

The project previously received Planning Board approval in May 2023. Developer 
revised the previously approved site plan to accommodate review comments and 
requirements from Engineering & Planning and from the Fire Marshal.  



 

Page 3 of 3 
 

City staff have reviewed the submitted Site Plan and offers no objection to the re-
zoning from District F (Light Industrial) to District SP (Site Plan) for the new BESS 
project.     











PLANNING BOARD MINUTES
JUNE 3, 2024

The Planning Board of the City of Texas City met in a regular meeting on Monday, June 3, 2024,
at 5:00 p.m. Planning Board members present: Chairman Dickey Campbell (via telephone),
Commissioner Jami Clark (via telephone), and Alternate Member Aric Owens. Staff members
present: Kimberly Golden (Secretary), Casey Bennett (Chief Building Official), David Kinchen
(Deputy Building Official) and Veronica Carreon. Guests were: John Wagner, Will Crane, and Matt
Robinette (Bluestem Energy Solutions); Pai Lam Chu (P. L. Chu & Associates); Nicole Niu; Russ
Nelson (Lone Star Builders), Jake Dahm (Spearmint Energy); Allan Rhodes (Fluence Energy);
Moruf Jimoh (PermitUSNow); Simon LaBrosse and Guillaume Dufay (AOP Renewables).

Alternate Aric Owens indicated a quorum was present and called the meeting to order.

1) APPROVAL OF MINUTES
A motion to approve the minutes of May 6, 2024, was made by Chairman Dickey
Campbell/Commissioner Jami Clark. All other members present voted aye.

2) PUBLIC COMMENTS
There were no public comments.

3) REGULAR AGENDA
a. Tabled at the May 6, 2024 meeting. Consider and take action on the Development

Plan for Texas City Plaza. Located at 2423 25th Avenue North (southeast corner of
25th Avenue North & 25th Street North).

Ms. Golden began the presentation and stated that this site is a little over ½ acre lot located at
southeast corner of 25th Avenue North and 25th Street North.
It is currently a vacant lot. The Applicant is proposing to construct a new 6, 240 sq. ft. retail plaza.
There are no tenants specified. They will also be building 32 parking spaces, 2 of which will be
designated for accessible parking.
The location is zoned District “E” (General Business), which is appropriate for the proposed retail
use. It is also in the Gateway Overlay District (GWD) which requires masonry construction and
enhanced landscaping. The Applicant has agreed to all of the requirements of the GWD.
The Applicant will have to build a screening wall between the back side of their property and the
adjacent residential uses. Everything else on the three other sides is currently developed as
commercial and operating.
They are requesting approval of their development plan and have answered all of staff’s
comments. Staff have no objection to approval of the development plan.
Alternate Aric Owens asked if there were any questions.
Chairman Campbell asked what is the idea for the strip center? Will it be fully retail? No office?
Mr. Pai Lam Chu, Applicant, replied they are still not sure who the tenants are and that will be up
to the owner.
Chairman Campbell then asked if the shell would have windows. His reason for asking is because
the other two shells that were built down the street to the west were built without any windows or



2

storefront and believes that is why there are no tenants in those buildings, and it is troublesome.
He is just concerned that the city is not running into another situation like that.
Ms. Golden replied that the Applicant submitted an Elevation Plan and that there will be windows
but only on the storefront. Chairman Campbell replied that is fine and that is all that is needed.
A motion was made by Chairman Dickey Campbell/Commissioner Jami Clark to approve
the Development Plan for Texas City Plaza. All other members present voted aye.

b. Tabled at the May 6, 2024 meeting. Consider and take action on the Development
Plan for Quick Quack Car Wash. Located at 3325 Palmer Hwy (formerly Schlotzsky’s
Restaurant).

Ms. Golden stated the Applicant is proposing to demolish the existing building, which is the former
Schlotzsky’s Restaurant and construct a new 3,506 sq. ft. automated car wash structure with 14
vacuum stalls, including one that will be designated as accessible.
The size of the lot is approximately ¾ of an acre and is currently zoned District “E” (General
Business), which is appropriate for a car wash, which is actually a named use in the Ordinance.
It is located on the GWD. Staff have discussed with the Applicant finishes, the enhanced
landscaping, underground utilities and everything has been covered.
The Applicant will also be participating in the City’s Decorative Light Program and will install two
pedestals on the property.
The development plan appears to be in compliance with the City Ordinance. Staff have no
objection to its approval.
Alternate Aric Owens asked about access from Palmer. He added that he works next door to an
automated car wash and ingress/egress does get problematic because they share an entrance
and exit on Palmer Hwy.
Mr. Russ Nelson (Lone Star Builders) replied that there will be shared access with the commercial
neighbor and the two accesses from 34th Street North will be closed.
Alternate Owens voiced his concern about the traffic of the shared access. He added that he sees
it every day with 500 – 600 cars visiting the car wash throughout the day, and it creates a “snarl”.
He assumes this is a TxDOT issue and not the City.
Mr. Nelson replied that they have a decent number of customers that come to their sites and with
this project they have “over-engineered” the plans to contain all traffic on site. He indicated on the
exhibit how everyone would access and then route into the car wash. The development plan
shows 10 stacking stalls, but there are actually about 22 before the traffic backs up.
Alternate Owens stated that is not his concern. His concern is people coming in and out of Palmer
Hwy. At his neighboring car wash traffic stacks up on Palmer Hwy in front of his work building.
Mr. Nelson replied that he can look into this and then get back to staff.
Ms. Golden added that the city had an Access Management Study completed back in 2011 and
this is compliant with that study.
Alternate Owens stated that the beauty of this project is that there is no “turn-right only” lane like
the one in front of his work building and the car wash.
A motion was made by Commissioner Jami Clark/Chairman Dickey Campbell to approve
the Development Plan for Quick Quack Car Wash. Located at 3325 Palmer Hwy. All other
members present voted aye.



3

c. Consider and make recommendation on the application from Bluestem Energy
Solutions to rezone from District “F” (Light Industrial) to District “S-P” (Site Plan for
a proposed 9.9 MW, 19.98 MWh Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) installation
to be located at 410 Hwy 146 N, south of TNMP Heights Substation.

Ms. Golden stated this project came to the Planning Board before and was approved in May 2023
and was under a different process. The approval expired before the Applicant was in position to
pull a building permit and this is why it is back before the Board.
Staff is taking it through the process of District “S-P” (Site Plan) because that is the way all of the
BESS projects are being treated now.
The Applicant adjusted their site plan from what was previously approved so that it is now
compliant with the required safety measures.
They have worked with the Fire Marshal per his request on the 15’ extra spacing. They have also
provided a 20’ paved perimeter access road and two additional access roads to the site.
The site is in an area that is industrial in nature and is very close to an existing substation.
Staff have no objections to approval of the development plan and the Fire Marshal has not
expressed any objection.
There are several items that will need to be worked out and considered during the actual
permitting process with the Fire Marshal and the Building Official. As far as their commissioning
and decommissioning plan and the security for that. Also, containment, safety practices and
several items that they know are still being worked out.
The Applicant has been working with staff and understand that this is new and evolving
technology, and the city’s processes are trying to keep up with that and they have been very
accommodating and good to work with.
This factors in that the request is being brought before the Planning Board with a lot of thought
and consideration.
Staff feel that given these projects are coming, this would be the part of Texas City that probably
would be best suited for them.
Commissioner Jami Clark asked if this was going to be on 1.5 acres. Ms. Golden replied that was
correct and added that the site is actually 2.79 acres, but the BESS covers 1.5 acres that will be
nine containers and is a fairly small project. The existing project on 34th Street North is on a half-
acre and contains six containers.
Alternate Aric Owens asked if there were any questions.
Chairman Dickey Campbell asked Ms. Golden what the thoughts about the decommissioning
process are and where that needs to be before they receive a permit. Ms. Golden replied that is
something that an internal workshop was held earlier in the day and is very much a work in
process with the Fire Marshal and the two Building Officials.

They know that these projects tend to have issues in the first two to three years, and they are
working on a plan. They have had some industry experts that have been offered to them for
consultation. Staff are setting up that exchange of information.

There are some cities in other parts of the country that have worked through this. Staff is also
working with Mr. Davis, the technical consultant that assisted with the previous workshop.



4

Chairman Dickey Campbell is well with Ms. Golden’s reply and stated this is a much better
location. He asked if staff would be reporting back with decommissioning requirements. Ms.
Golden replied that she would expect to have another workshop with the Planning Board and
Zoning Commission to keep them informed of developments on that side.
Alternate Owens asked about the purpose of the 20’ street access that runs behind the
neighboring hotel. Mr. Matt Robinette (Bluestem Energy Solutions) replied that it was there as an
existing ROW for the city per the Fire Marshal’s request. The Fire Marshal requested two access
points that were basically opposite of each other.
There were no further questions.
A motion was made by Chairman Dickey Campbell/Commissioner Jami Clark to
recommend approval to the Zoning Commission of the zoning change from District “F”
(Light Industrial) to District “S-P” (Site Plan). All other members present voted aye.

4) GENERAL UPDATES

Alternate Owens asked if there were any General Updates.

Ms. Golden replied there are a few more BESS projects coming. Staff have also received the
overall site plan for the COM project, and she hopes to have this ready for presentation at the next
board meeting.

5) OTHER BUSINESS (Any conceptual development proposal requesting to come before
the Planning Board)

Alternate Aric Owens asked if there was any other business to which there was none. A motion
was made by Commissioner Jami Clark/Chairman Dickey Campbell to adjourn. All
members present voted aye.

_____________________________________________
Kimberly Golden, Secretary Date

Minutes approved by the Planning Board at its meeting on ______________________.



ZONING COMMISSION
JULY 2, 2024

The Zoning Commission of the City of Texas City met in a regular meeting on Tuesday, July 2,
2024, at 5:00 p.m. Zoning Commission members present: Chairman Perry O’Brien (via phone),
Aric Owens, Commissioner Thelma Bowie and Fernando Tello. Staff members present were:
Kimberly Golden, Casey Bennett (CBO) and Veronica Carreon. Guests were: John Wagner
(Bluestem Energy Solutions), Simon Labrosse-Gelinas (AOP Renewables), Julie Tovar (SHIP
Intern), Henry Gomez, and Kristin Edwards (Director of Economic Development).

Chairman O’Brien indicated a quorum was present and called the meeting to order.

1) APPROVAL OF MINUTES
A motion to approve the minutes of April 2, 2024 was made by Aric Owens/Fernando Tello. All
other members present voted aye.

2) PUBLIC COMMENTS
There were no Public Comments.

3) PUBLIC HEARING
a. Bluestem Energy Solutions seeks to rezone from District “F” (Light Industrial) to

District “S-P” (Site Plan) for a proposed 9.9 MW, 19.98 MWh Battery Energy
Storage System (BESS) installation.

Ms. Kim Golden stated this is an application coming to the Zoning Commission for District “S-P”
(Site Plan) rezoning. Staff are now handling all BESS applications as District “S-P”.
This site has actually been previously approved by the Planning Board twice. Once in May 2023,
and most recently [on June 3, 2024] as part of this rezoning process.
The site is 2.799 acres of undeveloped land, and the Applicant is proposing to use 1.5 acres for
this installation. This project is not huge. The Applicant is proposing to install approximately 9
containers with 15’ spacing between them per the Fire Marshal’s requirements. They are also
providing a paved access road all around the installation of the battery units and two means of
access from two different directions, which are both additional requirements from the Fire
Marshal.
The location is south of FM 1764 on the east side of Hwy 146 N. The areas north and south of
this site are zoned as District “F-1” (Light Industrial). The property to the east is zoned District “B”
(Single Family Attached Duplex Residential) and is vacant and unlikely to develop as a residential
use. This is primarily due to the fact that the surrounding areas are developing and coming in as
rezones to be more in line with industrial use.
This site is not located in the floodplain and is inside the area that is protected by the Texas City
Hurricane Levee. The BESS will be built to finished floor elevations of 7.0 ft., which is in line with
Texas City ordinance.
Regarding protection from the saltwater/coastal environment, the applicant advises the containers
are fully integrated cabinets and shipped to the site as such, so there is no exposure to the
elements during the installation process. The containers will meet the requirements of IP 67 at the
Pack level and IP55 at the Battery Container level. IP67 means the individual battery packs do
not allow for the ingress of dust particles. They are protected against the ingress of water from



2

spraying/water jets and are rated to be submersed in up to 3’ of water for up to 30 minutes without
penetration. IP55 means the battery containers themselves provide protection from dust, low
pressure water jets and damp and wet weather. The storage units also meet an anti-corrosion
class of up to C5-H depending on the local environment. C5 is the highest class of anti-corrosion
coating. These codes and standards will be applied by the Fire Marshal and Chief Building Official
during the permitting process.
Fire protection will be provided by on-site systems specifically designed for this application with
Fire Marshal coordination. The project will be subject to the 2024 fire codes and building codes.
The Fire Marshal may require additional submittals at the time of permitting and has advised these
requirements will include at minimum commissioning and decommissioning plans, site safety
plan, all UL test results for the batteries to be installed, a bond or other security for
decommissioning and some requirements for insurance. The Chief Building Official is likely to
require annual certification and inspection of ventilation systems at minimum. The Applicant
acknowledges these, and other requirements must be satisfied to obtain the necessary permits.
Again, the site was previously approved in May 2023, but the approval has expired because they
did not obtain the necessary permits. This is why the Applicant is going through the process again
with Zoning Commission.
Ms. Golden then stated that a representative was present and if anyone had any questions.
Mr. Aric Owens stated that he reviewed the site plan but did not see access on the drawing. Mr.
John Wagner replied that the site was originally drawn to the property line, but that it could be
altered. Ms. Golden added that the  developer would be responsible for making the paved access
to Hwy 146 N.
Mr. Owens then asked if there was to be an event at the BESS site, would they be invoiced for
cleanup. Ms. Golden replied that there is an ordinance in place that provides for hazmat spills to
be charged back against the property owner and a lien applied if necessary for collection.
There were no further questions to which a motion was made by Aric Owens/Fernando
Tello to open the Public Hearing. All other members voted aye.
Commissioner Thelma Bowie stated that if anyone would like to address the Board for or against
the Applicant’s zoning change request, they could do so now. There were no comments, but Ms.
Golden stated there were 14 Public Hearing Notices mailed out to adjacent property owners. Four
letters were received in favor of the zoning change, with three of those having common ownership.
There were no questions or further discussion, to which a motion was made by Aric
Owens/Fernando Tello to close the Public Hearing. All other members voted aye.

4. PRELIMINARY ZONING APPROVAL
b. Consider and take action on the zoning change request from Bluestem Energy

Solutions to rezone from District “F” (Light Industrial) to District “S-P” (Site Plan
for a proposed 9.9 MW, 19.98 MWh Battery Energy Storage System (BESS)
installation.

Ms. Golden stated the Planning Board reviewed the site plan and made a recommendation to
move forward with the rezoning.
Ms. Kristin Edwards (Director of Economic Development) then offered that the city has received
a lot of these types of facilities come to them and that Ms. Golden and her staff have done a
fantastic job of figuring out how to do this safely, how to notify the proper people, and create the
amount of space needed. She believes that if this is done correctly and goes through the process



3

that Engineering & Planning has set up, it will give staff a good footprint to welcome reviews in the
future should that be everyone’s desire. She added that this feels like a trendy thing, but it could
mean a lot of good business and a lot of good money for the city. In this sense, she is in support
of this zoning change.
There were no further comments.

A motion was made by Aric Owens/Chairman Perry O’Brien to approve the zoning change
request from Bluestem Energy Solutions to rezone from District “F” (Light Industrial) to
District “S-P” (Site Plan). All other members present voted aye.

5. REGULAR ITEMS
There were no items to discuss.

6. GENERAL UPDATES
There were no updates.

7. OTHER BUSINESS (Any conceptual development proposal requesting to come before the
Zoning Commission)

Commissioner Bowie asked if there was any other business. Ms. Golden asked the Zoning
Commission if there was any interest in placing on a future agenda the election of officers. She
reminded everyone that Mr. Gary Potter, former Co-Chairman, resigned his position so there is a
vacancy for an officer.
Commissioner Bowie replied she would like to think about it. Chairman Perry O’Brien thought it
was a good idea and suggested it be put on the next agenda. Ms. Golden stated she would do
that.
A motion was made by Aric Owens/Fernando Tello to adjourn. All members present voted
aye.

_____________________________________________
Kimberly Golden, Secretary Date

Minutes approved by the Planning Board at its meeting on ______________________.



















   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (7) (a)        
Meeting Date: 08/07/2024  
Consider and take action on a Zoning Change Request from Bluestem Energy Solutions to rezone
from District "F" (Light Industrial) to District "S-P" (Site Plan) for Heights Battery Storage, a
proposed 9.9 MW, 19.98 MWh Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) installation, located at 410
Hwy 146 N, south of TNMP Heights Substation.
Submitted For: Kim Golden, Transportation and Planning 
Submitted By: Veronica Carreon, Transportation and Planning
Department: Transportation and Planning

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Bluestem Energy Solutions seeks to rezone from District "F" (Light Industrial) to District "S-P"
(Site Plan) for Heights Battery Storage, a proposed 9.9 MW, 19.98 MWh Battery Energy
Storage System (BESS) installation, located at 410 Hwy 146 N, south of TNMP Heights
Substation.

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
The applicant is Bluestem Energy Solutions. The proposed project will encompass
approximately 1.5 acres on 2.799 acres of undeveloped land. The location of the project is on
the east side of S.H 146 N and south of the existing TNMP Heights substation. The property is
zoned District F. The project proposes to develop up to 9 lithium-ion containers for 9.9MW,
19.98 MWh capacity at the site. This capacity is estimated to serve approximately 750 homes
for 24 hours. 

A Notice of the Zoning Commission hearing was mailed to 14 property owners within 200ft of
the site. Letters of support were received from four (4) property owners, three of the owners
being affiliated entities with common ownership. No letters of opposition have been received
to date.

The project is proposed to include up to 9 individual battery containers. Site improvements will
include a 20ft impervious (concrete or asphalt) perimeter fire lane with access to all containers
and two access roads as required by the Fire Marshal, security fencing, and landscaping of at
least 6ft in height to provide screening of the battery containers from S.H. 146. Container
spacing has been adjusted to the 15ft minimum required by the Fire Marshal. In addition to the
generating station, offsite improvements include electric transmission infrastructure that
connects to Texas-New Mexico Power facilities in the vicinity. No water or sewer will be
needed for this development. Site drainage will be accomplished using an on-site collection
system that outfalls into the adjacent drainage channel. The adjacent developed properties
north and south of the site are zoned District F – Light Industrial. The property is bounded to
the west by SH 146. Vacant property to the south and east of the site is currently zoned
District B Single Family Attached Duplex Residential but is vacant and unlikely to develop as
a residential use. The residential district is not directly adjacent to the proposed site but is
separated by a 60ft drainage easement.  Recent rezonings to District F indicate the area is
continuing to transition to industrial districts. The site is not located in a flood plain. It is located
inside the area protected by the Texas City Hurricane Levee. Container foundations will be



placed at elevation 7.0ft in accordance with Texas City ordinances.  Regarding protection
from the saltwater/coastal environment, the applicant advises the containers are fully
integrated cabinets and shipped to the site as such, so there is no exposure to the elements
during the installation process. The containers will meet the requirements of IP 67 at the Pack
level and IP55 at the Battery Container level. IP67 means the individual battery packs do not
allow for the ingress of dust particles. They are protected against the ingress of water from
spraying/water jets and are rated to be submersed in up to 3’ of water for up to 30 minutes
without penetration. IP55 means the battery containers themselves provide protection from
dust, low pressure water jets and damp and wet weather. The storage units also meet an
anti-corrosion class of up to C5-H depending on the local environment. C5 is the highest class
of anti-corrosion coating. These codes and standards will be applied by the Fire Marshal and
Chief Building Official during the permitting process. Fire protection will be provided by on-site
systems specifically designed for this application with Fire Marshal coordination. The project
will be subject to the 2024 fire codes and building codes. The Fire Marshal may require
additional submittals at the time of permitting and has advised these requirements will include
at minimum commissioning and decommissioning plans, site safety plan, all UL test results for
the batteries to be installed, a bond or other security for decommissioning and some
requirements for insurance. The Chief Building Official is likely to require annual certification
and inspection of ventilation systems at minimum. The Applicant acknowledges these, and
other requirements must be satisfied to obtain the necessary permits. 

RECOMMENDATION
The Planning Board considered the Detailed Site Plan for this project at its regular meeting on
June 3, 2024, and voted 3 – 0 to recommend it for approval of the zoning change from District
F (Light Industrial) to District SP (Site Plan).

The Zoning Commission held a public hearing upon notice mailed to adjacent property
owners.  It received four letters of support and no letters or comments in opposition to the
proposed zoning change.  The Zoning Commission then considered the application for zoning
change from Distirc tF (Light Industrial) to District SP (Site Plan) and voted 4-0 to recommend
it to the City Commission for approval of the zoning change.  

City staff have reviewed the submitted Site Plan and offers no objection to the re-zoning from
District F (Light Industrial) to District SP (Site Plan) for the new BESS project.    

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Staff report to City Commission 
Heights Battery Storage - Exhibit presented to PB on 06-03-24 
PB Staff Report - Heights Battery Storage 
ZC Staff Report 07-02-24 
Heights Battery Storage - Letters in Favor 
PB Minutes - 6.3.2024 
ZC minutes - 7.2.2024 
attachment 



















 

Page 2 of 3 
 

from S.H. 146. Container spacing has been adjusted to the 15ft minimum required by 
the Fire Marshal. In addition to the generating station, offsite improvements include 
electric transmission infrastructure that connects to Texas-New Mexico Power 
facilities in the vicinity. No water or sewer will be needed for this development. Site 
drainage will be accomplished using an on-site collection system that outfalls into the 
adjacent drainage channel.   

The adjacent developed properties north and south of the site are zoned District F – 
Light Industrial. The property is bounded to the west by SH 146. Vacant property to 
the south and east of the site is currently zoned District B single family attached 
duplex residential but is vacant and unlikely to develop as a residential use. The 
residential district is not directly adjacent to the proposed site but is separated by a 
60ft drainage easement.  Recent rezonings to District F indicate the area is continuing 
to transition to industrial districts.   

The site is not located in a flood plain. It is located inside the area protected by the 
Texas City Hurricane Levee. Container foundations will be placed at elevation 7.0ft in 
accordance with Texas City ordinances.   

Regarding protection from the saltwater/coastal environment, the applicant advises 
the containers are fully integrated cabinets and shipped to the site as such, so there is 
no exposure to the elements during the installation process. The containers will meet 
the requirements of IP 67 at the Pack level and IP55 at the Battery Container level. IP67 
means the individual battery packs do not allow for the ingress of dust particles. They 
are protected against the ingress of water from spraying/water jets and are rated to 
be submersed in up to 3’ of water for up to 30 minutes without penetration. IP55 
means the battery containers themselves provide protection from dust, low pressure 
water jets and damp and wet weather. The storage units also meet an anti-corrosion 
class of up to C5-H depending on the local environment. C5 is the highest class of anti-
corrosion coating. These codes and standards will be applied by the Fire Marshal and 
Chief Building Official during the permitting process.   

Fire protection will be provided by on-site systems specifically designed for this 
application with Fire Marshal coordination. The project will be subject to the 2024 fire 
codes and building codes. The Fire Marshal may require additional submittals at the 
time of permitting and has advised these requirements will include at minimum 
commissioning and decommissioning plans, site safety plan, all UL test results for the 
batteries to be installed, a bond or other security for decommissioning and some 
requirements for insurance. The Chief Building Official is likely to require annual 
certification and inspection of ventilation systems at minimum. The Applicant 
acknowledges these, and other requirements must be satisfied to obtain the 
necessary permits.   

The project previously received Planning Board approval in May 2023. Developer 
revised the previously approved site plan to accommodate review comments and 
requirements from Engineering & Planning and from the Fire Marshal.  



 

Page 3 of 3 
 

City staff have reviewed the submitted Site Plan and offers no objection to the re-
zoning from District F (Light Industrial) to District SP (Site Plan) for the new BESS 
project.     











PLANNING BOARD MINUTES
JUNE 3, 2024

The Planning Board of the City of Texas City met in a regular meeting on Monday, June 3, 2024,
at 5:00 p.m. Planning Board members present: Chairman Dickey Campbell (via telephone),
Commissioner Jami Clark (via telephone), and Alternate Member Aric Owens. Staff members
present: Kimberly Golden (Secretary), Casey Bennett (Chief Building Official), David Kinchen
(Deputy Building Official) and Veronica Carreon. Guests were: John Wagner, Will Crane, and Matt
Robinette (Bluestem Energy Solutions); Pai Lam Chu (P. L. Chu & Associates); Nicole Niu; Russ
Nelson (Lone Star Builders), Jake Dahm (Spearmint Energy); Allan Rhodes (Fluence Energy);
Moruf Jimoh (PermitUSNow); Simon LaBrosse and Guillaume Dufay (AOP Renewables).

Alternate Aric Owens indicated a quorum was present and called the meeting to order.

1) APPROVAL OF MINUTES
A motion to approve the minutes of May 6, 2024, was made by Chairman Dickey
Campbell/Commissioner Jami Clark. All other members present voted aye.

2) PUBLIC COMMENTS
There were no public comments.

3) REGULAR AGENDA
a. Tabled at the May 6, 2024 meeting. Consider and take action on the Development

Plan for Texas City Plaza. Located at 2423 25th Avenue North (southeast corner of
25th Avenue North & 25th Street North).

Ms. Golden began the presentation and stated that this site is a little over ½ acre lot located at
southeast corner of 25th Avenue North and 25th Street North.
It is currently a vacant lot. The Applicant is proposing to construct a new 6, 240 sq. ft. retail plaza.
There are no tenants specified. They will also be building 32 parking spaces, 2 of which will be
designated for accessible parking.
The location is zoned District “E” (General Business), which is appropriate for the proposed retail
use. It is also in the Gateway Overlay District (GWD) which requires masonry construction and
enhanced landscaping. The Applicant has agreed to all of the requirements of the GWD.
The Applicant will have to build a screening wall between the back side of their property and the
adjacent residential uses. Everything else on the three other sides is currently developed as
commercial and operating.
They are requesting approval of their development plan and have answered all of staff’s
comments. Staff have no objection to approval of the development plan.
Alternate Aric Owens asked if there were any questions.
Chairman Campbell asked what is the idea for the strip center? Will it be fully retail? No office?
Mr. Pai Lam Chu, Applicant, replied they are still not sure who the tenants are and that will be up
to the owner.
Chairman Campbell then asked if the shell would have windows. His reason for asking is because
the other two shells that were built down the street to the west were built without any windows or



2

storefront and believes that is why there are no tenants in those buildings, and it is troublesome.
He is just concerned that the city is not running into another situation like that.
Ms. Golden replied that the Applicant submitted an Elevation Plan and that there will be windows
but only on the storefront. Chairman Campbell replied that is fine and that is all that is needed.
A motion was made by Chairman Dickey Campbell/Commissioner Jami Clark to approve
the Development Plan for Texas City Plaza. All other members present voted aye.

b. Tabled at the May 6, 2024 meeting. Consider and take action on the Development
Plan for Quick Quack Car Wash. Located at 3325 Palmer Hwy (formerly Schlotzsky’s
Restaurant).

Ms. Golden stated the Applicant is proposing to demolish the existing building, which is the former
Schlotzsky’s Restaurant and construct a new 3,506 sq. ft. automated car wash structure with 14
vacuum stalls, including one that will be designated as accessible.
The size of the lot is approximately ¾ of an acre and is currently zoned District “E” (General
Business), which is appropriate for a car wash, which is actually a named use in the Ordinance.
It is located on the GWD. Staff have discussed with the Applicant finishes, the enhanced
landscaping, underground utilities and everything has been covered.
The Applicant will also be participating in the City’s Decorative Light Program and will install two
pedestals on the property.
The development plan appears to be in compliance with the City Ordinance. Staff have no
objection to its approval.
Alternate Aric Owens asked about access from Palmer. He added that he works next door to an
automated car wash and ingress/egress does get problematic because they share an entrance
and exit on Palmer Hwy.
Mr. Russ Nelson (Lone Star Builders) replied that there will be shared access with the commercial
neighbor and the two accesses from 34th Street North will be closed.
Alternate Owens voiced his concern about the traffic of the shared access. He added that he sees
it every day with 500 – 600 cars visiting the car wash throughout the day, and it creates a “snarl”.
He assumes this is a TxDOT issue and not the City.
Mr. Nelson replied that they have a decent number of customers that come to their sites and with
this project they have “over-engineered” the plans to contain all traffic on site. He indicated on the
exhibit how everyone would access and then route into the car wash. The development plan
shows 10 stacking stalls, but there are actually about 22 before the traffic backs up.
Alternate Owens stated that is not his concern. His concern is people coming in and out of Palmer
Hwy. At his neighboring car wash traffic stacks up on Palmer Hwy in front of his work building.
Mr. Nelson replied that he can look into this and then get back to staff.
Ms. Golden added that the city had an Access Management Study completed back in 2011 and
this is compliant with that study.
Alternate Owens stated that the beauty of this project is that there is no “turn-right only” lane like
the one in front of his work building and the car wash.
A motion was made by Commissioner Jami Clark/Chairman Dickey Campbell to approve
the Development Plan for Quick Quack Car Wash. Located at 3325 Palmer Hwy. All other
members present voted aye.



3

c. Consider and make recommendation on the application from Bluestem Energy
Solutions to rezone from District “F” (Light Industrial) to District “S-P” (Site Plan for
a proposed 9.9 MW, 19.98 MWh Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) installation
to be located at 410 Hwy 146 N, south of TNMP Heights Substation.

Ms. Golden stated this project came to the Planning Board before and was approved in May 2023
and was under a different process. The approval expired before the Applicant was in position to
pull a building permit and this is why it is back before the Board.
Staff is taking it through the process of District “S-P” (Site Plan) because that is the way all of the
BESS projects are being treated now.
The Applicant adjusted their site plan from what was previously approved so that it is now
compliant with the required safety measures.
They have worked with the Fire Marshal per his request on the 15’ extra spacing. They have also
provided a 20’ paved perimeter access road and two additional access roads to the site.
The site is in an area that is industrial in nature and is very close to an existing substation.
Staff have no objections to approval of the development plan and the Fire Marshal has not
expressed any objection.
There are several items that will need to be worked out and considered during the actual
permitting process with the Fire Marshal and the Building Official. As far as their commissioning
and decommissioning plan and the security for that. Also, containment, safety practices and
several items that they know are still being worked out.
The Applicant has been working with staff and understand that this is new and evolving
technology, and the city’s processes are trying to keep up with that and they have been very
accommodating and good to work with.
This factors in that the request is being brought before the Planning Board with a lot of thought
and consideration.
Staff feel that given these projects are coming, this would be the part of Texas City that probably
would be best suited for them.
Commissioner Jami Clark asked if this was going to be on 1.5 acres. Ms. Golden replied that was
correct and added that the site is actually 2.79 acres, but the BESS covers 1.5 acres that will be
nine containers and is a fairly small project. The existing project on 34th Street North is on a half-
acre and contains six containers.
Alternate Aric Owens asked if there were any questions.
Chairman Dickey Campbell asked Ms. Golden what the thoughts about the decommissioning
process are and where that needs to be before they receive a permit. Ms. Golden replied that is
something that an internal workshop was held earlier in the day and is very much a work in
process with the Fire Marshal and the two Building Officials.

They know that these projects tend to have issues in the first two to three years, and they are
working on a plan. They have had some industry experts that have been offered to them for
consultation. Staff are setting up that exchange of information.

There are some cities in other parts of the country that have worked through this. Staff is also
working with Mr. Davis, the technical consultant that assisted with the previous workshop.



4

Chairman Dickey Campbell is well with Ms. Golden’s reply and stated this is a much better
location. He asked if staff would be reporting back with decommissioning requirements. Ms.
Golden replied that she would expect to have another workshop with the Planning Board and
Zoning Commission to keep them informed of developments on that side.
Alternate Owens asked about the purpose of the 20’ street access that runs behind the
neighboring hotel. Mr. Matt Robinette (Bluestem Energy Solutions) replied that it was there as an
existing ROW for the city per the Fire Marshal’s request. The Fire Marshal requested two access
points that were basically opposite of each other.
There were no further questions.
A motion was made by Chairman Dickey Campbell/Commissioner Jami Clark to
recommend approval to the Zoning Commission of the zoning change from District “F”
(Light Industrial) to District “S-P” (Site Plan). All other members present voted aye.

4) GENERAL UPDATES

Alternate Owens asked if there were any General Updates.

Ms. Golden replied there are a few more BESS projects coming. Staff have also received the
overall site plan for the COM project, and she hopes to have this ready for presentation at the next
board meeting.

5) OTHER BUSINESS (Any conceptual development proposal requesting to come before
the Planning Board)

Alternate Aric Owens asked if there was any other business to which there was none. A motion
was made by Commissioner Jami Clark/Chairman Dickey Campbell to adjourn. All
members present voted aye.

_____________________________________________
Kimberly Golden, Secretary Date

Minutes approved by the Planning Board at its meeting on ______________________.



ZONING COMMISSION
JULY 2, 2024

The Zoning Commission of the City of Texas City met in a regular meeting on Tuesday, July 2,
2024, at 5:00 p.m. Zoning Commission members present: Chairman Perry O’Brien (via phone),
Aric Owens, Commissioner Thelma Bowie and Fernando Tello. Staff members present were:
Kimberly Golden, Casey Bennett (CBO) and Veronica Carreon. Guests were: John Wagner
(Bluestem Energy Solutions), Simon Labrosse-Gelinas (AOP Renewables), Julie Tovar (SHIP
Intern), Henry Gomez, and Kristin Edwards (Director of Economic Development).

Chairman O’Brien indicated a quorum was present and called the meeting to order.

1) APPROVAL OF MINUTES
A motion to approve the minutes of April 2, 2024 was made by Aric Owens/Fernando Tello. All
other members present voted aye.

2) PUBLIC COMMENTS
There were no Public Comments.

3) PUBLIC HEARING
a. Bluestem Energy Solutions seeks to rezone from District “F” (Light Industrial) to

District “S-P” (Site Plan) for a proposed 9.9 MW, 19.98 MWh Battery Energy
Storage System (BESS) installation.

Ms. Kim Golden stated this is an application coming to the Zoning Commission for District “S-P”
(Site Plan) rezoning. Staff are now handling all BESS applications as District “S-P”.
This site has actually been previously approved by the Planning Board twice. Once in May 2023,
and most recently [on June 3, 2024] as part of this rezoning process.
The site is 2.799 acres of undeveloped land, and the Applicant is proposing to use 1.5 acres for
this installation. This project is not huge. The Applicant is proposing to install approximately 9
containers with 15’ spacing between them per the Fire Marshal’s requirements. They are also
providing a paved access road all around the installation of the battery units and two means of
access from two different directions, which are both additional requirements from the Fire
Marshal.
The location is south of FM 1764 on the east side of Hwy 146 N. The areas north and south of
this site are zoned as District “F-1” (Light Industrial). The property to the east is zoned District “B”
(Single Family Attached Duplex Residential) and is vacant and unlikely to develop as a residential
use. This is primarily due to the fact that the surrounding areas are developing and coming in as
rezones to be more in line with industrial use.
This site is not located in the floodplain and is inside the area that is protected by the Texas City
Hurricane Levee. The BESS will be built to finished floor elevations of 7.0 ft., which is in line with
Texas City ordinance.
Regarding protection from the saltwater/coastal environment, the applicant advises the containers
are fully integrated cabinets and shipped to the site as such, so there is no exposure to the
elements during the installation process. The containers will meet the requirements of IP 67 at the
Pack level and IP55 at the Battery Container level. IP67 means the individual battery packs do
not allow for the ingress of dust particles. They are protected against the ingress of water from



2

spraying/water jets and are rated to be submersed in up to 3’ of water for up to 30 minutes without
penetration. IP55 means the battery containers themselves provide protection from dust, low
pressure water jets and damp and wet weather. The storage units also meet an anti-corrosion
class of up to C5-H depending on the local environment. C5 is the highest class of anti-corrosion
coating. These codes and standards will be applied by the Fire Marshal and Chief Building Official
during the permitting process.
Fire protection will be provided by on-site systems specifically designed for this application with
Fire Marshal coordination. The project will be subject to the 2024 fire codes and building codes.
The Fire Marshal may require additional submittals at the time of permitting and has advised these
requirements will include at minimum commissioning and decommissioning plans, site safety
plan, all UL test results for the batteries to be installed, a bond or other security for
decommissioning and some requirements for insurance. The Chief Building Official is likely to
require annual certification and inspection of ventilation systems at minimum. The Applicant
acknowledges these, and other requirements must be satisfied to obtain the necessary permits.
Again, the site was previously approved in May 2023, but the approval has expired because they
did not obtain the necessary permits. This is why the Applicant is going through the process again
with Zoning Commission.
Ms. Golden then stated that a representative was present and if anyone had any questions.
Mr. Aric Owens stated that he reviewed the site plan but did not see access on the drawing. Mr.
John Wagner replied that the site was originally drawn to the property line, but that it could be
altered. Ms. Golden added that the  developer would be responsible for making the paved access
to Hwy 146 N.
Mr. Owens then asked if there was to be an event at the BESS site, would they be invoiced for
cleanup. Ms. Golden replied that there is an ordinance in place that provides for hazmat spills to
be charged back against the property owner and a lien applied if necessary for collection.
There were no further questions to which a motion was made by Aric Owens/Fernando
Tello to open the Public Hearing. All other members voted aye.
Commissioner Thelma Bowie stated that if anyone would like to address the Board for or against
the Applicant’s zoning change request, they could do so now. There were no comments, but Ms.
Golden stated there were 14 Public Hearing Notices mailed out to adjacent property owners. Four
letters were received in favor of the zoning change, with three of those having common ownership.
There were no questions or further discussion, to which a motion was made by Aric
Owens/Fernando Tello to close the Public Hearing. All other members voted aye.

4. PRELIMINARY ZONING APPROVAL
b. Consider and take action on the zoning change request from Bluestem Energy

Solutions to rezone from District “F” (Light Industrial) to District “S-P” (Site Plan
for a proposed 9.9 MW, 19.98 MWh Battery Energy Storage System (BESS)
installation.

Ms. Golden stated the Planning Board reviewed the site plan and made a recommendation to
move forward with the rezoning.
Ms. Kristin Edwards (Director of Economic Development) then offered that the city has received
a lot of these types of facilities come to them and that Ms. Golden and her staff have done a
fantastic job of figuring out how to do this safely, how to notify the proper people, and create the
amount of space needed. She believes that if this is done correctly and goes through the process



3

that Engineering & Planning has set up, it will give staff a good footprint to welcome reviews in the
future should that be everyone’s desire. She added that this feels like a trendy thing, but it could
mean a lot of good business and a lot of good money for the city. In this sense, she is in support
of this zoning change.
There were no further comments.

A motion was made by Aric Owens/Chairman Perry O’Brien to approve the zoning change
request from Bluestem Energy Solutions to rezone from District “F” (Light Industrial) to
District “S-P” (Site Plan). All other members present voted aye.

5. REGULAR ITEMS
There were no items to discuss.

6. GENERAL UPDATES
There were no updates.

7. OTHER BUSINESS (Any conceptual development proposal requesting to come before the
Zoning Commission)

Commissioner Bowie asked if there was any other business. Ms. Golden asked the Zoning
Commission if there was any interest in placing on a future agenda the election of officers. She
reminded everyone that Mr. Gary Potter, former Co-Chairman, resigned his position so there is a
vacancy for an officer.
Commissioner Bowie replied she would like to think about it. Chairman Perry O’Brien thought it
was a good idea and suggested it be put on the next agenda. Ms. Golden stated she would do
that.
A motion was made by Aric Owens/Fernando Tello to adjourn. All members present voted
aye.

_____________________________________________
Kimberly Golden, Secretary Date

Minutes approved by the Planning Board at its meeting on ______________________.





   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (9) (a)        
Meeting Date: 08/07/2024  
Minutes
Submitted For: Rhomari Leigh, City Secretary 
Submitted By: Rhomari Leigh, City Secretary
Department: City Secretary

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Approve City Commission Minutes for the July 17, 2024, workshop and meeting. (City
Secretary)

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
RECOMMENDATION

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
7/17/2024 CC Meeting 
7/17/2024 Budget Workshop 



REGULAR CALLED CITY COMMISSION MEETING

M I N U T E S 

WEDNESDAY, JULY 17, 2024 – 5:00 P.M.
KENNETH T. NUNN COUNCIL ROOM – CITY HALL

 
A Regular Called Meeting of the City Commission was held on Wednesday, JULY 17, 2024, at 5:00
P.M. in the Kenneth T. Nunn Council Room in City Hall, Texas City, Texas. A quorum having been met,
the meeting was called to order at 5:00 p.m. by Mayor Dedrick D. Johnson.
 

               
1. ROLL CALL

Present: Dedrick D. Johnson, Mayor   
Thelma Bowie, Commissioner At-Large, Mayor Pro Tem   
Abel Garza, Jr. , Commissioner At-Large   
DeAndre' Knoxson, Commissioner District 1   
Keith Love, Commissioner District 2   
Chris Sharp, Commissioner District 3   
Jami Clark, Commissioner District 4   

2. INVOCATION

Led by Ingrid Clark, Asst. Pastor at St. John's Methodist Church.
 
3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

Led by Commissioner At-Large, Mayor Pro Tem Thelma Bowie.
 
4. PROCLAMATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS
 

a.
Service Awards    
Tammy Odom Municipal Court 07/21/2014 10 years
John McKinley Public Works 07/14/2014 10 years
Jesus Flores Water Distribution 07/06/2009 15 years
James Thompson Sanitation 07/26/1999 25 years

  

 
b. Swearing-In of Marshal Marcus Garcia

This item was postponed to a later date.

  

 
5. REPORTS
 

a. Moore Memorial Library Report (Library)   



a. Moore Memorial Library Report (Library)

Cheryl Loewen, Library Director, gave a PowerPoint presentation.

  

 
6. PUBLIC HEARING
 

a. CDBG 2024-2025 Annual Action Plan - 2nd Public Hearing.   
 
  Motion by Commissioner District 4 Jami Clark, Seconded by Commissioner District 3

Chris Sharp 

  Vote: 7 - 0 CARRIED

 
7. PUBLIC COMMENTS

No Public Comment
 
8. CONSENT AGENDA

Commissioner At-Large, Mayor Pro Tern Thelma Bowie, made a motion to approve Consent
Agenda items 8a, b, c, d, and e. The motion was seconded by Commissioner District 3 Chris
Sharp.

 
a. Approve City Commission Minutes for the July 3, 2024 meeting. (City Secretary)   

 
  Vote: 7 - 0 CARRIED

 
b. Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2024-088, authorizing the Mayor or his designee

to enter into a Development Reimbursement Agreement for the Gateview Subdivision. (City
Engineer)

  

 
  Vote: 7 - 0 CARRIED

 
c. Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2024-089, authorizing the Mayor or his

designee to enter into an agreement with Marsh Darcy for review and consultation services
relating to the Gateview Subdivision. (City Engineer)

  

 
  Vote: 7 - 0 CARRIED

 
d. Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2024-090, authorizing the Mayor or his designee

to enter engagements with ABHR (a law firm) to provide legal review and consultations
relating to the Gateview Subdivision. (City Engineer)

  

 
  Vote: 7 - 0 CARRIED

 
e. Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2024-091, appointing Bruce Clawson to the

Zoning Commission to replace Felix Herrera. 
  

 



  Vote: 7 - 0 CARRIED

 
9. REGULAR ITEMS
 

a. Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2024-092, approving a budgeted expenditure
from Economic Development funding to support the Workforce Liaison position with the
Texas City Independent School District (TCISD). (Economic Development)

Kristin Edwards, Director of Economic Development, recommends the commission to
approve budgeted expenditure from Economic Development funding to support Workforce
Liaison position with Texas City Independent School District.

  

 
  Motion by Commissioner District 4 Jami Clark, Seconded by Commissioner District 1

DeAndre' Knoxson 

  Vote: 7 - 0 CARRIED

 
10. COMMISSIONERS' COMMENTS

See Recording
 
11. MAYOR'S COMMENTS

See Recording
 
12. ADJOURNMENT
 
Having no further business, Commissioner At-Large Able Garza, Jr., made a MOTION to ADJOURN at
5:42 p.m.; the motion was SECONDED by Commissioner Keith Love. All present voted AYE. MOTION
CARRIED.

  
 ______________________________
 DEDRICK D. JOHNSON, MAYOR

ATTEST:

_________________________________
Rhomari Leigh, City Secretary
Date Approved:



CITY OF TEXAS CITY
CITY COMMISSION BUDGET WORKSHOP

AGENDA 

July 17, 2024 - 4:00 P.M.

KENNETH T. NUNN COUNCIL ROOM - CITY HALL
1801 9th Ave. N.

Texas City, TX 77590
 

PLEASE NOTE: Public comments and matters from the floor are generally limited to 3 minutes in
length. If you would like to request to speak, please do so in advance of the meeting by filling out a
Request To Address Commission form. All in attendance are required to remove hats and/or sunglasses
(dark glasses) during meetings and to also silence all cell phones and electronic devices.
 

               
(1)  ROLL CALL
  Present: Dedrick D. Johnson, Mayor   

Abel Garza, Jr. , Commissioner At-Large   
Chris Sharp, Commissioner District 3   
Jami Clark, Commissioner District 4   

Absent: Thelma Bowie, Commissioner At-Large, Mayor Pro Tem
  DeAndre' Knoxson, Commissioner District 1
  Keith Love, Commissioner District 2

(2)  PUBLIC COMMENTS
 
(3)   DISCUSSION ON THE 2024 - 2025 FISCAL YEAR BUDGET.  (FINANCE)

Cynthia Rushing, Finance Director, gave a PowerPoint presentation of the City's budget for
2024-2025 fiscal year.

  

 
(4)  ADJOURNMENT

Having no further business, Commissioner At-Large Able Garza, Jr., made a MOTION to
ADJOURN at 4:29 p.m.; the motion was SECONDED by Commissioner District 4 Jami Clark.
All present voted AYE. MOTION CARRIED.

 

 ______________________________
 DEDRICK D. JOHNSON, MAYOR

 ATTEST:

_________________________________
Rhomari Leigh, City Secretary
Date Approved:



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (9) (b)        
Meeting Date: 08/07/2024  
Approval of Moore Memorial Public Library Strategic Plan for FY25-27
Submitted For: Cheryl Loewen, Library  Submitted By: Cheryl Loewen, Library
Department: Library

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Consider approving the Strategic Plan for Moore Memorial Public Library for Fiscal Year
2025-2027.

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
Moore Memorial Public Library is required to have a strategic plan in order to
maintain accreditation with the Texas State Library and Archive Commission. The current
strategic plan ends on September 30th, 2024. The proposed plan would take effect on
October 1st, 2024 and cover fiscal years 2025-2027. This proposed plan was unanimously
approved by the Board of Library Directors at their meeting on June 254th, 2024. 

RECOMMENDATION
I recommend that the proposed strategic plan for FY 25-27 is approved. 

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Strategic Plan - Moore Memorial Public Library 
Resolution 



1

MOORE MEMORIAL PUBLIC LIBRARY
STRATEGIC PLAN

October 1, 2024 THROUGH September 30, 2027
Approved by Library Board on June 24, 2024

Approved by City Commission …  DRAFT

OUTREACH

Goal 1:   Establish the Library as a social services information hub for Galveston County

Objectives:

1. Coordinate with county-wide social services agencies to provide programs and
services in the library (FY 2025, 2026, 2027)

2. Compile a list of social services contacts for internal reference to help library staff
reach out for patron assistance (FY 2025)

3. Provide internal professional development to train library staff on available
resources (FY 2025, 2026, 2027)

4. Increase library presence at local events organized by county social services agencies
(FY 2025, 2026, 2027)

Goal 2:  Use all available media and social media platforms to increase outreach

Objectives:

1. Create a formal publicity plan for the library that incorporates all possible platforms
and methods (FY 2025)

2. Investigate the use of regular email blasts to provide updates and information to
library patrons (FY 2026)

3. Research new platforms for promoting library events (FY 2025)
4. Engage local media for feature stories on library programs and services (FY 2025,

2026, 2027)
5. Increase marketing for library collections and services, including digital resources

(2025, 2026, 2027)



2

Goal 3: Expand services to populations not currently being reached

Objectives:

1. Investigate the possibility of providing residents of local seniors’ facilities with access
to digital resources such as Ebooks and E-audiobooks (FY 2026)

2. Expand outreach at community and school events in Texas City, including private
schools and homeschool groups (FY 2025, 2026, 2027)

3. Research the development of off-site programs for all ages, including Pop-up story
times for children, in other locations, specifically the west side of Texas City and the
Lago Mar Development (FY 2025, 2026, 2027)

PROGRAMMING

GOAL 1: Create and support a community of life-long learners

Objectives:

1. Research and implement early literacy programs for all families (FY 2025, 2026)
2. Develop early literacy kits for checkout (FY 2025)
3. Develop an early literacy space in the Children’s Department for children ages birth

to 5 years of age, according to the Family Place Libraries model (FY 2025)
4. Research and implement programs for neuro-divergent youth and adults, such as a

Sensory Story Time (FY 2026)
5. Research and implement programs for marginalized groups such as bilingual story

times and an ESL Conversation group (FY 2025, 2026)
6. Develop financial literacy programs for children, using the materials received

through the Thinking Money For Kids grant (FY 2025, 2026)
7. Continue to partner with Workforce Solutions to provide training and referrals for

job seekers (FY 2025, 2026, 2027)
8. Develop additional programs that foster a sense of community, such as the current

book club and board game programs (FY 2025, 2026, 2027)

GOAL 2: Develop criteria to evaluate the success of programs and events at the library

Objectives:

1. Develop a new post-program survey to gauge the success of all programs (FY 2025)
2. Develop criteria to measure the success of programs, including the library resources

used (staff time, cost, etc.) (FY 2025)



3

3. Develop a general survey for wide distribution, to determine community needs and
interests, and areas for improvement (FY 2026)

4. Create and execute an implementation plan for new service or program needs
identified by the survey in Objective 3 above. (FY 2027)

TECHNOLOGY

Goal 1: Provide the most appropriate technological resources for the library community.

 Objectives:

1. Review all library website pages and links to assess the materials and presentation (FY
2025, 2026, 2027)

2. Research more effective use of email or text for notification of holds, overdue items,
upcoming events, etc. (FY 2026)

3. Research the feasibility of a self-checkout kiosk (FY 2025)
4. Research alternatives to the current Integrated Library System (catalog) (FY 2027)
5. Research the use of a mobile app for the library (FY 2025, 2026)
6. Evaluate/assess the technology in the meeting rooms to determine if improvements are

needed (FY 2025)
7. Re-evaluate current technology training for patrons and update as needed (FY 2025,

2026, 2027)
8. Develop online tutorials to teach patrons how to access their library account to renew

items, place items on hold, and other tasks (FY 2025, 2026)
9. Research the creation of a Makerspace and digitization lab: space, equipment,

technology, training, staff time, etc. (FY 2025, 2026)
10. Research other uses of the Beanstack App that is used for the Summer Reading Program

FY 2025)

COLLECTION DEVELOPMENT

Goal 1: Ensure that the library collection meets the needs of the Texas City Community

Objectives:

1. Research the addition of new audio formats such as Playaways and Vox Books (FY 2025,
2026)

2. Assess the use of the audiobook collection to determine the feasibility of continuing to
purchase that format (FY 2026)

3. Research alternate methods of organization for the Young Adult collection (FY 2025)



4

4. Research the division of the Juvenile Fiction section by age groups (FY 2026)
5. Improve the Spanish language collection for all ages so that it better reflects the

interests of the community (FY 2025, 2026, 2027)
6. Evaluate the Dewey Decimal 300s section of non-fiction to ensure that books are

appropriately classified, and reclassify them as needed (FY 2025, 2026)

LOCAL HISTORY/ARCHIVES

Goal 1: Maintain and expand Local History Archive.

Objectives:

1. Develop policies and procedures to formalize processes. Create guides to be used by
staff and volunteers in all areas not currently covered by existing policies. (FY 2025,
2026)

2. Develop a tailored classification structure for the archival material. (FY 2025)
3. Complete the Vertical File project and integrate the bibliographic records of those

resources into the library's ILS. (FY 2025, 2026)
4. Begin work on the Hispanic Oral History Project, including establishing a committee to

assist with developing interview questions and identifying potential interview subjects.
(FY 2025, 2026)

5. Utilize other oral history projects to assist in filling in gaps in the history of Texas City
within the archive. (FY 2025, FY 2026, 2027)

6. Create a physical space in the library to promote and exhibit archival material. (FY 2025)

Goal 2: Develop and expand digital collection of selected archive holdings

Objectives:

1. Integrate bibliographies pathfinders, displays etc., into a fully mixed media environment
and web presence. (FY 2026, 2027)

2. Develop short video segments to describe materials in the archive for community
members and students. (FY 2025, 2026, 2027)

3. Research and utilize grant opportunities to fund planned digitization and exhibit
projects. (FY 2025, 2026, 2027)

4. Create new digital exhibits utilizing collections in the archive (FY 2025, 2026, 2027)
5. Develop exhibits using mapping software to represent local spaces and historic

community figures (FY 2026)



5

Goal 3:  Develop and expand partnerships with Local History and Archivist organizations.

Objectives:

1. Provide collaboration, partnerships, and training opportunities with the Archives Group
of Galveston County (AGC) (FY 2025, 2026, 2027)

2. Aid AGC to develop holding list of respective archives. (FY 2025, 2026)
3. Provide internships opportunities for students interested in history, archival work,

digitization and digital humanities. (FY 2025, 2026, 2027)
4. Issue annual public request for donations of local history documents, photos or items,

possibly in collaboration with the Texas City Museum. (FY 2025, FY 2026, 2027)
5. Collaborate on displays and/or programs in cooperation with the Texas City Museum.

(FY 2025, FY 2026, 2027)
6. Research ways to expand outreach services to schools and other historical agencies

within Galveston County. (FY 2025, FY 2026, 2027)

Goal 5: Create events and programs to celebrate the 100th anniversary of the Moore Memorial Public
Library

Objectives:

1. Request photos from the community showcasing their visits to the library (FY 2026,
2027)

2. Prepare physical and digital exhibits to represent the history of Moore Memorial Public
Library (FY 2026, 2027)

3. Provide documentation on the Texas City Civic club for exhibits. (FY 2026)
4. Research library birthday program ideas for engagement with the community (FY 2026)



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-093

A RESOLUTION APPROVING MOORE MEMORIAL PUBLIC
LIBRARY STRATEGIC PLAN FOR FISCAL YEARS 2025-2027; AND
PROVIDING THAT THIS RESOLUTION SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE
FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE AND ADOPTION.

WHEREAS, in accordance with the requirements of Texas Administrative Code Title
13, Page 1, Chapter 1, Subchapter C, Rule 1.83(6), Moore Memorial Public Library operates
under a strategic plan.  In order to fulfill the requirements for continued accreditation as a public
library in the State of Texas, the Library is required to create and have the strategic plan
approved by the government body, to provide guidance for library operations and services during
the coming years; and

WHEREAS, the strategic plan was developed in conjunction with Moore Library staff,
Texas State Library & Archive Commission guidance, professional best practices, trend analysis,
input from the Board of Trustees of Moore Memorial Public Library, and patrons and other
community members and is now brought to the City Commission for the final step in the
approval process.

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF TEXAS
CITY, TEXAS:

SECTION 1:  That the City Commission of the City of Texas City, Texas, hereby
approves Moore Memorial Public Library Strategic Plan for the Fiscal Years 2025 - 2027.

SECTION 2:  That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its
passage and adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of August 2024.

_____________________________
Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., Mayor
City of Texas City, Texas

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM:

___________________________ ____________________________
Rhomari D. Leigh Kyle L. Dickson
City Secretary City Attorney



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (9) (c)        
Meeting Date: 08/07/2024  
Continuation of Disaster Declaration
Submitted For: Rhomari Leigh, City Secretary 
Submitted By: Rhomari Leigh, City Secretary
Department: City Secretary

Information
ACTION REQUEST
To extend the continuation of the Disaster Declaration until further action by the Commission.

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
On July 7, 2024, Mayor Dedrick D. Johnson, on behalf of the City of Texas City, declared a
local state of disaster due to the imminent threat from Tropical Storm/Hurricane Beryl. On July
12, 2024, the City conducted a Special Emergency Commission Meeting to extend the
disaster declaration for thirty (30) days.

It is recommended that the Disaster Declaration be renewed beyond thirty days from its date
of issuance only with the consent of the City Commission of the City of Texas City, Texas.

This action does not require any direct expenditure of funds. However, it allows the City to be
eligible for reimbursement of funds related to the disaster.  

RECOMMENDATION
Emergency Management and Legal recommend that the Disaster Declaration be renewed
beyond thirty days from its date of issuance only with the consent of the City Commission of
the City of Texas City, Texas.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Resolution 



Page 1 of 2

RESOLUTION NO. 2024 – 094

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF TEXAS CITY, TEXAS, FOR
ADDITIONAL CONTINUATION OF THE DECLARATION OF LOCAL
STATE OF DISASTER.

WHEREAS, the City of Texas City, Texas, on the 7th day of July 2024, declared a local
state of disaster due to imminent threat from Tropical Storm/Hurricane Beryl; and

WHEREAS, Governor Abbot, on the 5th day of July 2024, in response to severe weather
threats along the Gulf Coast due to Tropical Storm/Hurricane Beryl, authorizes the use of all
available resources of state government and of political subdivisions that are reasonably necessary
to cope with their response to Tropical Storm/Hurricane Beryl; and

WHEREAS, on July 5, 2024, the Governor of the State of Texas issued a proclamation
certifying that Hurricane Beryl poses an imminent threat of disaster in the state and declaring a
state of disaster for certain counties in Texas; and

WHEREAS, the County Judge of Galveston County, Mark Henry, has determined that
extraordinary measures must be taken to alleviate the suffering of the people and to protect or
rehabilitate property and for other disaster mitigation, response, or recovery; and

WHEREAS, the Mayor of the City of Texas City, Texas, Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., has
determined that Tropical Storm/Hurricane Beryl poses a threat of imminent disaster, including
property damage, injury and loss of life due to flooding, life-threatening storm surge, damaging
winds, and heavy rainfall and that extraordinary measures must be taken to alleviate the suffering
of people and to protect or rehabilitate property.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED BY THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF
TEXAS CITY, TEXAS:

SECTION 1. That a local state of disaster has been declared for the City of Texas City,
Texas, pursuant to Section 418.108(a) of the Texas Government Code.

SECTION 2. This declaration continuing a local state of disaster shall be effective for an
additional thirty (30) days on and from its date of issuance, provided, however that this declaration
may be terminated before the expiration of thirty days by subsequent order of the Mayor, and may
be continued or renewed beyond thirty days from its date of issuance only with the consent of the
City Commission of the City of Texas City, Texas.

SECTION 3. Pursuant to Section 418.108(c) of the Texas Government Code, this
continuation of the declaration of a local state of disaster shall be given prompt and general
publicity and shall be filed promptly with the City Secretary.

SECTION 4.  That pursuant to Section 418.108(d) of the Texas Government Code, this
continuation of the declaration of a local state of disaster continues the activation of the City of



Page 2 of 2

Texas City, Texas, emergency management plan, and authorizes the furnishing of aid and
assistance under the declaration; and

SECTION 5. Per Texas Government Code Section 418.173, a person who knowingly or
intentionally violates this declaration commits an offense punishable by a fine up to $1,000.00 or
confinement in jail for a term that does not exceed 180 days.

SECTION 6. This continuation of the declaration hereby authorizes the use of all lawfully
available enforcement tools.

SECTION 7. This continuation of the declaration shall take effect immediately from and
after its issuance.

DECLARED this 7th day of August 2024.

                                                       
Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., Mayor
City of Texas City, Texas

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM:

                                                  _______________________________
Rhomari D. Leigh Kyle L. Dickson
City Secretary City Attorney



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (9) (d)        
Meeting Date: 08/07/2024  
Approval to Accept and Expend HUD FY' 2024 CDBG Allocation
Submitted For: Titilayo Smith, Community Development/ Grant Admin 
Submitted By: Patricia Mata, Community Development/ Grant Admin
Department: Community Development/ Grant Admin

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Consider and approve the acceptance of, and ability to expend, the PY'
2024,  CDBG Entitlement allocation from HUD.

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
The City of Texas City's annual allocation for Community Development Block Grant funds is
$406,014.  These grant funds provide the financial tools to support individuals, families, and
communities to address homelessness, affordable housing challenges, aging infrastructure,
and economic hardships.

RECOMMENDATION
It is the recommendation of the Director of Community Development and Grants
Administration that this award be accepted and expended according to the PY'24 Annual
Action Plan.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
CPD Formula Letter 2024 
Resolution 







RESOLUTION NO. 2024-095

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE ACCEPTANCE OF, AND
ABILITY TO EXPEND, THE FISCAL YEAR
2024 CDBG ENTITLEMENT ALLOCATION FROM THE
HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT (HUD); AND
PROVIDING THAT THIS RESOLUTION SHALL BECOME
EFFECTIVE FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE AND
ADOPTION.

WHEREAS, the City of Texas City Community Development Department
(CDD) is the administrative agency for the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban
Development (HUD)’s Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Program. This
program is intended to support the goals of providing a suitable living environment,
decent affordable housing, and expanding economic opportunities for low- to moderate
income persons; and

WHEREAS, the City of Texas City's annual allocation for Community
Development Block Grant funds is $406,014.; and

WHEREAS, the City must approve the acceptance of, and ability to expend, the
FY' 2024 CDBG Entitlement allocation from HUD.

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF
TEXAS CITY, TEXAS:

SECTION 1: That the City Commission hereby approves the acceptance of, and
ability to expend, the FY' 2024 CDBG Entitlement allocation from HUD.

SECTION 2: That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after
its passage and adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of August 2024.

______________________________
Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., Mayor
City of Texas City, Texas

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM:

___________________________ ____________________________
Rhomari D. Leigh Kyle L. Dickson
City Secretary City Attorney



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (9) (e)        
Meeting Date: 08/07/2024  
Reject All Bids for Bid No. 2024-012 Building Materials Annual Contract
Submitted For: Mike McKinley, Public Works  Submitted By: Mike McKinley, Public

Works
Department: Public Works

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Approve the rejection of all bids for Bid # 2024-012, Building Materials Annual Contract, and
authorize Staff to rebid at a later date.

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
A "Notice to Bidders" was published on June 5th and June 12th, 2024. Bid packets were sent
to local area vendors and bids were received. Bids were opened on June 21, 2024, at 10:00
a.m.,
Of the two bids received, one had 3 "no bid" items and the other had 32 "no bid" items, some
of which are "common use" items and are purchased frequently. 

After conferring with both the Public Works Director and the Construction Services
Superintendent, it was determined that there was no good way to have an "apples to apples"
comparison with the current bids. During this discussion it was also determined that the
current bid form's list of items was obsolete and needed to be revised. This revision includes a
reduction in the overall number of items from over 180 items, to 45 items. The quantity of
these items was also updated as to better represent our current needs. With the bid
documents already revised, we should be able to go back out for bid fairly quickly. A bid
tabulation is attached for your review.

RECOMMENDATION
It is the recommendation of the Public Works Department to reject all bids received and to
rebid at a later date with the revised documents.

Thank you.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Exhibit A 
Resolution 



Bid Tabulation – Page 1 of 1 

BID TABULATION 
 

Building Materials Annual Contract 
  

Bid #2024-012 
 

Bids opened: Friday, June 21, 2024 @ 10:00 a.m. 
 

VENDOR TOTAL BID AMOUNT DISCOUNT % 
 

Kilgore Lumber 
(3 Items “No Bid) 

 
$50,442.28 

 

 
15 – 20% 

 
Bohn’s Building Materials 

(32 Item “No Bid”) 

 
$39,267.28 

 

 
15 – 20% 

 



 
RESOLUTION NO. 2024-096

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE REJECTION OF ALL BIDS FOR
BID NO. 2024-012, BUILDING MATERIALS ANNUAL CONTRACT, AND
AUTHORIZING STAFF TO REBID AT A LATER DATE; AND
PROVIDING THAT THIS RESOLUTION SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE
FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE AND ADOPTION.

WHEREAS, a "Notice to Bidders" was published on June 5, 2024, and June 12, 2024.
Bid packets were sent to local area vendors, and bids were received. Bids were opened on June
21, 2024, at 10:00 a.m. Of the two bids received, one had 3 "no bid" items and the other had
32 "no bid" items, some of which are "common use" items and are purchased frequently; and

WHEREAS, after conferring with both the Public Works Director and the Construction
Services Superintendent, it was determined that there was no good way to have an "apples to
apples" comparison with the current bids. During this discussion, it was also determined that the
current bid form's list of items was obsolete and needed to be revised. This revision includes a
reduction in the overall number of items from over 180 items to 45 items. The quantity of these
items was also updated to better represent our current needs. A bid tabulation is attached for your
review.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE
CITY OF TEXAS CITY, TEXAS:

SECTION 1:  That the City Commission approves the rejection of all bids for Bid No.
2024-012, Building Materials Annual Contract, and authorizes Staff to rebid at a later date.

SECTION 2:  That the Public Works Department will reject all bids received and rebid
at a later date with revised documents.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of August 2024.

_______________________________
Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., Mayor 
City of Texas City, Texas

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM:

_________________________ ____________________________
Rhomari D. Leigh Kyle L. Dickson
City Secretary City Attorney



2



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (9) (f)        
Meeting Date: 08/07/2024  
Adopt PY' 2024 CDBG Action Plan and Approve Submission to HUD
Submitted For: Titilayo Smith, Community Development/ Grant Admin 
Submitted By: Patricia Mata, Community Development/ Grant Admin
Department: Community Development/ Grant Admin

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Consider and adopt the PY' 24 (October 1, 2024 to September 30, 2025) CDBG Action Plan. 
Approve submission of plan to HUD.

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
The City of Texas City Community Development Department (CDD) is the administrative
agency for the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD)’s Community
Development Block Grant (CDBG) Program. This program is intended to support the goals of
providing a suitable living environment, decent affordable housing, and expanding economic
opportunities for low- to moderate-income persons.

Each year the City of Texas City must submit an annual Action Plan to HUD at least 45 days
before the start of the new program year, reporting on how that year’s funding allocation for
the CDBG Entitlement grant will be able to achieve the goals outlined in the Five-Year
Consolidated Plan.  Community Development staff gathered input from citizens and
consultations to prepare the PY'24 CDBG Action Plan.  There were two public hearings to
receive citizen input on the community's needs, including funding allocations.   The draft
Action Plan was available for 30 days for public comment from June 17, 2024, to July
17, 2024.

The Director of Community Development & Grants Administration proposes that the City
assist the low to moderate-income residents and areas of the city through the preservation of
the housing stock, beautification of the neighborhoods, creating outdoor spaces, housing
assistance, and economic development. It is recommended that the City create and
implement a robust homelessness strategy to address the noticeable increase in unsheltered
residents. Collaboration and partnerships will be the key to success in achieving the goals of
the Plan. City resources cannot address all issues nor make all required improvements, but
working together with other stakeholders will reduce the duplication of efforts and increase
outcomes. 

The objectives and outcomes of the PY'24 Action Plan are to make as much progress as
possible toward creating suitable living environments for the residents of the LMI
neighborhoods in Texas City. Texas City is a location prone to natural disasters. The question
is not if, but when. We want to ensure that any hazards that may affect Texas City residents
are mitigated as much as possible. That includes improving the condition of their homes and
improving the external environments of the neighborhoods so that they are inviting not only
to the residents but also attract economic development.



RECOMMENDATION
It is the recommendation of the Director of Community Development & Grants Administration
that the Commission adopt this plan and approve its submission to HUD.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
2024 CDBG Action Plan 
Resolution 







































































































RESOLUTION NO. 2024-097

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE CITY OF TEXAS CITY’S FY’
2024 CDBG ANNUAL ACTION PLAN AND APPROVING THE
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT'S SUBMISSION
OF THE CITY OF TEXAS CITY'S FY’ 24 CDBG ACTION PLAN
TO THE U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN
DEVELOPMENT (HUD); AND PROVIDING THAT THIS
RESOLUTION SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE FROM AND
AFTER ITS PASSAGE AND ADOPTION.

WHEREAS, the City of Texas City Community Development Department
(CDD) is the administrative agency for the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban
Development (HUD)’s Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Program. This
program is intended to support the goals of providing a suitable living environment,
decent affordable housing, and expanding economic opportunities for low- to moderate-
income persons; and

WHEREAS, each year the City of Texas City must submit an annual Action Plan
to HUD at least 45 days before the start of the new program year, reporting on how that
year’s funding allocation for the CDBG Entitlement grant will be able to achieve the
goals outlined in the Five-Year Consolidated Plan. Community Development staff
gathered input from citizens and consultations to prepare the FY'24 CDBG Action Plan.
There were two public hearings to receive citizen input on the community’s needs,
including funding allocations.  The draft Action Plan was available for 30 days for public
comment from June 17, 2024, to July 17, 2024; and

WHEREAS, the objectives and outcomes of the FY'24 Annual Action Plan are to
make as much progress as possible toward creating suitable living environments for the
residents of the LMI neighborhoods. We want to ensure that any hazards that may affect
Texas City residents are mitigated as much as possible. That includes improving the
condition of their homes and assisting the unsheltered, and working with them to have
suitable living environments. And improving the external environments of the
neighborhoods so that they are inviting not only to the residents but also attract economic
development.

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF
TEXAS CITY, TEXAS:

SECTION 1: That the City Commission hereby adopts and approves the
submission of the Community Development Department's submission of the City of
Texas City's FY’ 24 CDBG Annual Action Plan to the U.S. Department of Housing and
Urban Development.

SECTION 2: That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after
its passage and adoption.



2

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of August 2024.

______________________________
Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., Mayor
City of Texas City, Texas

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM:

___________________________ ____________________________
Rhomari D. Leigh Kyle L. Dickson
City Secretary City Attorney



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (9) (g)        
Meeting Date: 08/07/2024  
Submitted For: Rhomari Leigh, City Secretary 
Submitted By: Rhomari Leigh, City Secretary
Department: City Secretary

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2024-098, appointing members to the Planning
Board. (City Secretary)

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
On August 1, 2024, Jayla Weatherspoon resigned as a Board Member from the Planning
Board due to unforeseen circumstances. Attached is the resignation email. 

On February 7, 2024, Andrew Thomas applied to serve on Boards & Commissions with the
City Secretary's Office. Attached is Mr. Thomas' application and resume.

The Planning Board consists of five (5) members and two (2) alternates. Each member is
appointed for a term of four (4) years. Mr. Aric Owens is currently serving as an Alternate
member. 

RECOMMENDATION
It is the recommendation of the City Secretary's Office that Aric Owen be moved from
Alternate member to Board member and Andrew Thomas be appointed as an Alternate
member.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Resolution 
attachment 
attachment 2 



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-098

A RESOLUTION APPOINTING AND/OR REPLACING MEMBERS TO THE
PLANNING BOARD; AND PROVIDING THAT THIS RESOLUTION SHALL
BECOME EFFECTIVE FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE AND ADOPTION.

WHEREAS, on August 1, 2024, Jayla Weatherspoon resigned as a Board
Member from the Planning Board; and

WHEREAS, it is the recommendation of the City Secretary's Office that Aric
Owen be moved from Alternate member to Board member and Andrew Thomas be
appointed as an Alternate member.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION
OF THE CITY OF TEXAS CITY, TEXAS:

SECTION 1: That the City Commission of the City of Texas City, Texas, hereby
approves that Aric Owen be moved from Alternate member to Board member and
Andrew Thomas be appointed as an Alternate member.

SECTION 2:  That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after
its passage and adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of August 2024.

_________________________
Dedrick D. Johnson, Mayor
City of Texas City, Texas

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM:

________________________ _________________________
Rhomari D. Leigh Kyle L. Dickson
City Secretary City Attorney





CITY OF TEXAS CITY 

APPLICATION FOR CITY BOARDS/COMMISSIONS/COMMITTEES 

Thank you for your interest in volunteering your time and talents to the City of Texas City. Please fill 
out the below application (required) and attach an updated resume' ( optional). As an Applicant for a 
City Board, Commission, or Committee, your application will be available to the public. You will 
be contacted before any action is taken on your appointment to confirm your continued 
interest in serving. All appointments are made by the Texas City Commission. Incumbents 
whose terms expire are automatically considered for reappointment unless they indicate non
interest or have been appointed to two (2) consecutive terms. A member who is absent for more 
than 40% of called meetings in any twelve consecutive months, for other than medical 
reasons, may be removed from service. Applicant must be a citizen of the United States 
and must reside within the city limits of Texas City unless otherwise stated 
m the pos1t10n announcement. Applications will be kept on file for two years and will 
expire at the end of two years; for instance, an application dated in 2022 will expire in 2024. 

Please Type of Print Clearly: 

Name: Andrew Thomas 

Address:  

City/State/Zip Texas City, TX, 77590 

Email: athomas@techquip.com 

I have lived in Texas City~ years. 

Date: 2/7 /24 

Phone: 
(Home) 

Phone: 

Cell:  
(Work) 

I am X am not a U.S. Citizen 

. Outside Sales of Industrial Instrumentation for the petrochemical industry. 
Occupation: 

Professional and/or Community Activities relative to your desired Board appointment: 

Additional Pertinent Information/References: 



Applications for the following Commission-appointed Boards, Commissions, 
and Committees will be kept on file in the City Secretary's office (409-643-5916) 
for two years. 

If you are interested in serving on more than one board, please indicate your preference by numbering in 
order of preference (i.e. , 1, 2, 3, etc.) 

Decision-Making Boards and Commissions 
(3) Planning & Zoning Commission 
( ) Library Board 
( ) TC Economic Development Board 
( ) TC Cultural Arts Foundation 
( ) TC Public Facilities Development 
( ) TC Harbour Foreign Trade Zone 
( ) TC Historical Preservation Corporation 
(2) TC Industrial Development 
( ) TC Housing Finance Corporation 
( ) Civil Service 
( ) Recreation and Tourism Board 
(1) Board of Adjustments- Building & Structure 

Advisory Committees 
( ) Bayou Golf Course Advisory Board 
( ) Housing Authority 

Meeting Information 
As called in accordance with the Board, 
Commission, or Advisory Committee's 
By-laws. 

****************************************************** 

I AM INTERESTED IN SERVING ON THE ABOVE-INDICATED BOARDS, COMMISSIONS, 
AND COMMITTEES. 

Signature of Applicant 

Please return this application to: City Secretary 
City of Texas City 
1801 9th Ave. N. 
Texas City, TX 77590 

or rleigh@texascitytx.gov 



QUALi FICATIONS 

Andrew Thomas 
 

Texas City, TX 

 
athomas@techquip.com 

• Great communication skills 
• Extensive Knowledge of Industrial Instrumentation 
• I'm able to multitask effectively and prioritize my job duties. 
• Great problem solver, able to think outside the box to get the customer taken 

care of. 
• I am very competitive, self-motivated, and will work hard to be the best at 

whatever I'm doing. 

EDUCATION 
University of Houston Clear Lake Houston, TX 

• Bachelor's in Business Administration 

College of the Mainland Texas City, TX 
• Associates of Applied Sciences Industrial Instrumentation 

EXPERIENCE 
TECH-QUIP INC. 01/13 - Present 
Outside Sales Houston 

• Generate quotes, based on information provided by the customer. 
• Provide support to the customer both technical and commercial. 
• Set-up appoints with customers and promote all the products on our line 

sheet. 
• Set up joint calls with regional managers 
• Maintain contacts in CRM software, and log activities 
• Follow-up, and generate opportunities for all products 
• Conduct field evaluations, and support 

Products: Magnetic Level Gauges, Level Switches & Transmitters, Pressure 
Gauges, Filters, pH, CEMS bundles, Closed Loop Samplers, Vibration Switches 
and Transmitters 

Manufacturers: Krohne, Orion, Magnetrol, SOR, Perma-Cal, Mid-West, 
Baisten, Mettler-Toledo, Thermon, Sentry Closed Loop Samplers, Sick, Metrix 
Accomplishments 

•!• I've had amazing growth taking my territory from roughly 1.5 million to 
4. 7 million since 2013 

•!• 2018 set an all-time company record for sales by an outside salesman 



. . '" . 

TECH-QUIP INC. 

Inside Sales 
06/06-1/13 
Houston 

• Generate quotes, based on information provided by the customer. 
• Provide support to the customer both technical and commercial. 
• Enter orders, generate quotes, and expedite orders. 
• I was the only inside salesman that learned how to do everyone's job in 

the office from answering phones, purchasing, and shipping. 
Products: Magnetic Level Gauges, Level Switches & Transmitters, Pressure 
Gauges, Filters, pH 
Manufacturers: Orion, Magnetrol, 3D, Mid-West, Balston, Mettler-Toledo 
Accomplishments 

•!• While working I performed the role of inside sales I was also the project 
manager over converting to new CRM and ERP software for the company. 

Wolfenson Electric 

Instrument fitter helper/ Electrical Helper 
• Run tubing and air pipe to instruments. 
• Install instruments 
• Run conduit, and pull wire 

Accomplishments 

04/06 - 06/06 
Houston 

•!• Began working as a journeyman in the short time I was there. 

Valero Retail 
Store Manager 

• Scheduling, Staffing 
• Cover shifts, running a register 

05/05-04/06 
Galveston 

• Ordering stock, inventory control, make daily deposits 
Accomplishments 

•!• Got the highest score on quarterly grade from corporate. 

COMPUTER SKILLS 

• MS Office 
• Power Point 
• CRM 



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (10) (a)        
Meeting Date: 08/07/2024  
Budget amendment to allocate funds for the May 2024 General Election
Submitted For: Rhomari Leigh, City Secretary  Submitted By: Renee Edgar, City

Secretary
Department: City Secretary

Information
ACTION REQUEST
To authorize a budget amendment to make funds available for the payment of the May 2024,
General Election

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
The City of Texas City entered into a Contract with the Galveston County Elections Division
for Election Services under Resolution No. 2024-005. The City budgeted $25,000 in the
adopted 2023-2024 FY Budget based on previous invoices for these services.
On July 15, 2024, Galveston County Auditors emailed an invoice in the amount of $83,636.25.

The Chief Deputy of Elections stated that the increase is due to the County not contributing
financially to this election, an upgrade in election equipment to a paper-based system which
was required by law, and legislative changes include deputies which are required to lock and
unlock ballot boxes at all of the locations, deputies are required to be present anytime that
central counting station is counting ballots, costs for paper, enough workers to handle these
new tasks at the locations and even new mail ballot regulations that have to be followed. 

RECOMMENDATION
Allocate funds in the amount of $60,837.30 from the General Fund, Unassigned Fund
Balance.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
General Election Invoice 
Ordinance 





ORDINANCE NO. 2024-19

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE FISCAL YEAR 2023/2024 BUDGET
TO APPROPRIATE FUNDS FOR PAYMENT OF THE MAY 2024,
GENERAL ELECTION; DISPENSING WITH THE REQUIREMENT FOR
READING THIS ORDINANCE ON THREE (3) SEPARATE DAYS; AND
PROVIDING THAT THIS ORDINANCE SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE
FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE AND ADOPTION.

WHEREAS, by Ordinance No. 2023-36 the City Commission of the City of Texas City,
Texas, adopted its budget for Fiscal Year 2023-2024; and

WHEREAS, a budget amendment is needed to appropriate funds for the payment of the
May 2024, general election; and

WHEREAS, funds are available in the General Fund.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE
CITY OF TEXAS CITY, TEXAS:

SECTION 1: That the facts and matters set forth in the preamble of this Ordinance are
hereby found to be true and correct.

SECTION 2: That the budget for Fiscal Year 2023-2024 of the City of Texas City,
Texas, is hereby amended as follows:

General Fund (101) Administration (101):

   Election Cost                     $25,000.00
            Unassigned Fund Balance ($60,837.30)

SECTION 3: That the chief executive officer shall file or cause to be filed a copy of this
budget amendment in the office of the Galveston County Clerk.

SECTION 4: That the Charter requirement for reading this Ordinance on three (3)
separate days has been dispensed by a majority vote of all members of the City Commission.

SECTION 5: That this Ordinance shall be finally passed and adopted on the date of its
introduction and shall become effective from and after its passage and adoption.



PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of August 2024.

________________________
Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., Mayor
City of Texas City, Texas

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM:

________________________ _________________________
Rhomari D. Leigh Kyle L. Dickson
City Secretary City Attorney



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (10) (b)        
Meeting Date: 08/07/2024  
Consider and take action on proposed tax rate by record vote and schedule public hearings, if
necessary.
Submitted For: Cynthia Rushing, Finance  Submitted By: Cynthia Rushing, Finance
Department: Finance

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Consider and take action on proposed tax rate by record vote and schedule public hearings, if
necessary.

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
This is an annual activity required by the City to take action on the proposed tax rate by record
vote and schedule public hearings, if necessary.

RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends the NNR tax rate.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Report 
Staff Report 



Notice About 2024 Tax Rates 
Property tax rates in City of Texas City 

 

This notice concerns the 2024 property tax rates for City of Texas City. This notice provides information about two tax rates used in adopting the 

current tax year's tax rate. The no-new-revenue tax rate would Impose the same amount of taxes as last year if you compare properties taxed in both 

years. In most cases, the voter-approval tax rate is the highest tax rate a taxing unit can adopt without holding an election. In each case, these rates 

are calculated by dividing the total amount of taxes by the current taxable value with adjustments as required by state law. The rates are given per $100 

of property value. 

 

This year's no-new-revenue tax rate $0.488635/$100 

This year's voter-approval tax rate $0.644163/$100 

 

To see the full calculations, please visit 722 21st Street/Moody Avenue, Galveston, Texas 77550 for a copy of the Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet. 
 

Unencumbered Fund Balance 

The following estimated balances will be left in the taxing unit's accounts at the end of the fiscal year. These balances are not encumbered by 

corresponding debt obligation. 

Type of Fund Balance 
General Fund  18,123,606  

 

Current Year Debt Service 

The following amounts are for long-term debts that are secured by property taxes. These amounts will be paid from upcoming property tax revenues 

(or additional sales tax revenues, if applicable). 

 

Description of Debt 
Principal or Contract Payment to be  

Paid from Property Taxes 

Interest to be Paid from 

Property Taxes 
Total Payment 

2012 Refunding Bonds  535,000 8,025 543,025 
2015 Certificates of Obligation  1,060,000 15,900 1,075,900 
2020 Refunding Bonds  345,000 82,300 427,300 
2024 General Obligation Bonds  6,120,000 100,000 6,220,000 

  Total required for 2024 debt service $8,266,225 

- Amount (if any) paid from funds listed in unencumbered funds $0 

- Amount (if any) paid from other resources $0 

- Excess collections last year $1,234,647 

= Total to be paid from taxes in 2024 $7,031,578 

+ Amount added in anticipation that the unit will collect only 99.70% of its taxes in 2024 $21,158  

= Total debt levy $7,052,736 

 
 

This notice contains a summary of actual no-new-revenue and voter-approval calculations as certified by Cheryl E. Johnson, PCC, CTOP, Galveston 

County Tax Assessor Collector on 07/31/2024. 

 

Visit Texas.gov/PropertyTaxes to find a link to your local property tax database on which you can easily access information regarding your property 

taxes, including information about proposed tax rates and scheduled public hearings of each entity that taxes your property.  The 86th Texas 

Legislature modified the manner in which the voter-approval tax rate is calculated to limit the rate of growth of property taxes in the state. 



1

Proposed Tax Rate

 

Fiscal Year 2024 – 2025

August 7, 2024



2

AGENDA

❑  Purpose

❑ Truth-In-Taxation Definition

❑  Recommendation

❑  Next Steps



3

PURPOSE

Truth-In-Taxation (TNT):  Tax Rate Adoption

❑ Designed to provide more transparency in the property tax adoption 

process and inviting greater taxpayer participation 

❑ Adopts a tax rate that will support the operations budget for the City

❑  Galveston County Tax Office calculates the tax rates and sends the 

tax rates to the Taxing Units in the Galveston County

✓  County Appraisal District provides Certified Taxable Values

✓  Taxing Units provide Debt Information, Unencumbered Fund  

Balance, Sales Tax spent on M&O, and TIF payments

    

3



4

TERMS AND DEFINITIONS

No-New-Revenue Tax Rate (NNR) 

Tax rate that would produce the same revenue from the same property base as the 

prior year and serves has an offset to the increasing property appraised values.

Example:

Voter Approval Tax Rate (VAR) 

Highest tax rate that the Taxing Unit may adopt without holding an election to seek 

voter approval of the rate.

Adopted Tax Rate

Tax rate that was previously voted and adopted by the Taxing Unit

Tax Increment Financing (TIF) – redirect property tax in an area designated as a 

Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone (TIRZ)

    

Prior Year Current Year
Appraise Value 1,000,000$        1,100,000$           
COTC Tax Rate 0.490000$          0.445455$             
COTC Property Tax Revenue 4,900$                 4,900$                    



5

STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Staff Recommends No-New-Tax Rate

❑  No Property Tax Increase

❑  Tax Rate Flat for last 3 years

* M&O – Maintenance and Operations

FY17-18 FY18-19 FY19-20 FY20-21 FY21-22 FY22-23 FY23-24 FY24-25
Taxable Value 4,228,406,746$    4,715,349,204$     4,997,799,763$            5,370,711,710$    5,431,858,681$   6,277,842,665$   6,397,924,538$      6,854,151,976$      
Adopted Rate 0.577179 0.550000 0.540000 0.510000 0.490000 0.490000 0.490000 0.490000
NNR 0.577179 0.520993 0.540270 0.517195 0.516302 0.448432 0.479020 0.488635

NNR M&O Rate 0.589781 0.540749 0.577878 0.558021 0.461960 0.403735 0.458423 0.385738
Debt Rate 0.097135 0.087370 0.082904 0.063504 0.060496 0.049936 0.102650 0.102897

VAR 0.613958 0.559568 0.582712 0.524407 0.559489 0.555639 0.636316 0.644163

Proposed Tax 
Revenue 24,405,476$          25,934,421$           26,988,119$                  27,390,630$          26,616,108$         30,761,429$         31,349,830$            33,585,345$            



6

STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Staff Recommends No-New-

Tax Rate

❑  No Property Tax Increase

❑  Tax Rate Flat for last 3

 years

❑   No-New-Revenue Tax 

Rate has 2 Components

1.  M&O

2.  Debt Services

* M&O – Maintenance and Operations



7

FY25 PROPERTY TAX REVENUE PROJECTIONS

Proposed Tax Levy 

Calculation:

$6,854,151,976/$100

   X          $ .488635

           $33,585,385

* M&O – Maintenance and Operations

FY21-22 FY22-23 FY23-24 FY24-25
Taxable Value 5,431,858,681$   6,277,842,665$   6,397,924,538$      6,854,151,976$      
Adopted Rate 0.490000 0.490000 0.490000 0.490000
NNR 0.516302 0.448432 0.479020 0.488635

NNR M&O Rate 0.461960 0.403735 0.458423 0.385738
Debt Rate 0.060496 0.049936 0.102650 0.102897

VAR 0.559489 0.555639 0.636316 0.644163

Proposed Tax 
Revenue 26,616,108$         30,761,429$         31,349,830$            33,585,345$            



8

NEXT STEPS

August 21, 2024

❑ Public Hearing  

❑ Adopt Proposed Tax Rate  



9

QUESTIONS


	Agenda
	AI 7361 Promotion: Firefighter James Haltom promoted to Engineer
	AI 7370 Transportation and Planning Department Report (City Engineer)
	       ATT_Staff Report
	AI 7354 Bluestem Energy Solutions seeks to rezone from District "F" (Light Industrial) to District "S-P" (Site Plan) for Heights Battery Storage, a proposed 9.9 MW, 19.98 MWh Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) installation. Located at 410 Hwy 146 N, south of TNMP Heights Substation.
	       ATT_Staff report for City Commission
	       ATT_Heights Battery Storage - Exhibit presented to PB on 06-03-24
	       ATT_PB Staff Report - Heights Battery Storage
	       ATT_ZC Staff Report 07-02-24
	       ATT_Heights Battery Storage - Letters in Favor
	       ATT_PB Minutes - 6.3.2024
	       ATT_ZC minutes - 7.2.2024
	       ATT_attachment
	       ATT_attachment
	       ATT_attachment
	AI 7355 Consider and take action on a Zoning Change Request from Bluestem Energy Solutions to rezone from District "F" (Light Industrial) to District "S-P" (Site Plan) for Heights Battery Storage, a proposed 9.9 MW, 19.98 MWh Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) installation, located at 410 Hwy 146 N, south of TNMP Heights Substation.
	       ATT_Staff report to City Commission
	       ATT_Heights Battery Storage - Exhibit presented to PB on 06-03-24
	       ATT_PB Staff Report - Heights Battery Storage
	       ATT_ZC Staff Report 07-02-24
	       ATT_Heights Battery Storage - Letters in Favor
	       ATT_PB Minutes - 6.3.2024
	       ATT_ZC minutes - 7.2.2024
	       ATT_attachment
	AI 7369 Minutes
	       ATT_7_17_2024 CC Meeting
	       ATT_7_17_2024 Budget Workshop
	AI 7359 Approval of Moore Memorial Public Library Strategic Plan for FY25-27
	       ATT_Strategic Plan - Moore Memorial Public Library
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI 7362 Continuation of Disaster Declaration
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI 7365 Approval to Accept and Expend HUD FY' 2024 CDBG Allocation
	       ATT_CPD Formula Letter 2024
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI 7366 Reject All Bids for Bid No. 2024-012 Building Materials Annual Contract
	       ATT_Exhibit A
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI 7364 Adopt PY' 2024 CDBG Action Plan and Approve Submission to HUD
	       ATT_2024 CDBG Action Plan
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI 73717371
	       ATT_Resolution
	       ATT_attachment
	       ATT_attachment 2
	AI 7363 Budget amendment to allocate funds for the May 2024 General Election
	       ATT_General Election Invoice
	       ATT_Ordinance
	AI 7368 Consider and take action on proposed tax rate by record vote and schedule public hearings, if necessary.
	       ATT_Report
	       ATT_Staff Report

